
 

HEALTH SCRUTINY 
SUB-COMMITTEE

________________________________________________

Tuesday, 28 June 2016 at 6.30 p.m.

MP701, 7th Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, 
London, E14 2BG.

This meeting is open to the public to attend. 

Members:
Chair: Councillor Clare Harrisson
Vice-Chair: 

Councillor Sabina Akhtar, Councillor Dave Chesterton, Councillor Abdul Asad, Councillor 
Peter Golds, Councillor Abdul Mukit MBE and Councillor Muhammad Ansar Mustaquim
Deputies: 
Councillor Danny Hassell, Councillor Amina Ali, Councillor Rajib Ahmed and Councillor 
Chris Chapman
Co-opted Members:
David Burbidge (Healthwatch Tower Hamlets Representative)
Tim Oliver Healthwatch Tower Hamlets

[The quorum for this body is 3 voting Members]

Contact for further enquiries:
Farhana Zia, Democratic Services
1st Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, E14 2BG
Tel: 020 7364 0842
E-mail: Farhana.Zia@towerhamlets.gov.uk
Web: http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee

Scan this code for 
an electronic 
agenda 



Public Information
Attendance at meetings.
The public are welcome to attend meetings of the Committee. However seating is limited 
and offered on a first come first served basis. 

Audio/Visual recording of meetings.
Should you wish to film the meeting, please contact the Committee Officer shown on the 
agenda front page.

Mobile telephones
Please switch your mobile telephone on to silent mode whilst in the meeting. 

Access information for the Town Hall, Mulberry Place.     

Bus: Routes: 15, 277, 108, D6, D7, D8 all stop 
near the Town Hall. 
Docklands Light Railway: Nearest stations are 
East India: Head across the bridge and then 
through the complex to the Town Hall, Mulberry 
Place 
Blackwall station: Across the bus station then turn 
right to the back of the Town Hall complex, 
through the gates and archway to the Town Hall. 
Tube: The closest tube stations are Canning 
Town and Canary Wharf 
Car Parking: There is limited visitor pay and 

display parking at the Town Hall (free from 6pm)

If you are viewing this on line:(http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/content_pages/contact_us.aspx) 

Meeting access/special requirements. 
The Town Hall is accessible to people with special needs. There are accessible toilets, lifts 
to venues. Disabled parking bays and an induction loop system for people with hearing 
difficulties are available.  Documents can be made available in large print, Braille or audio 
version. For further information, contact the Officers shown on the front of the agenda 
Fire alarm
If the fire alarm sounds please leave the building immediately by the nearest available fire 
exit without deviating to collect belongings. Fire wardens will direct you to the exits and to 
the fire assembly point. If you are unable to use the stairs, a member of staff will direct you 
to a safe area. The meeting will reconvene if it is safe to do so, otherwise it will stand 
adjourned.
Electronic agendas reports and minutes.
Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be 
found on our website from day of publication.  

To access this, click www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee and search for 
the relevant committee and meeting date. 

Agendas are available at the Town Hall, Libraries, Idea Centres and One 
Stop Shops and on the Mod.Gov, iPad and Android apps.  

QR code for 
smart phone 
users.

http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee


PAGE
NUMBER(S)

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

1. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY 
INTERESTS 

1 - 4

To note any declarations of interest made by Members, including those 
restricting Members from voting on the questions detailed in Section 106 
of the Local Government Finance Act, 1992.  See attached note from the 
Monitoring Officer.

2. APPOINTMENTS 

The Committee are asked to appoint:
1. Vice Chair of the Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee
2. Member for the Inner North East London Joint Health Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee (INEL JOSC)
3. Two Members to the Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S) 5 - 12

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Health 
Scrutiny Panel held on 20th April 2016

4. REPORTS FOR CONSIDERATION 

4 .1 Terms of Reference - Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee  13 - 22

4 .2 Review of Maternity Services at the Royal London Hospital  23 - 64

4 .3 Health Scrutiny Induction  

Key stakeholders will introduce themselves to the Health Scrutiny Panel. 
This will be followed by an induction to Health Scrutiny which will provide 
members with the key skills and knowledge needed, and will include 
agenda planning for 2016/17.

5. ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS 
TO BE URGENT 

Next Meeting of the Panel
The next meeting of the Health Scrutiny Panel will be held on Tuesday, 6 September 
2016 at 6.30 p.m. in MP701, 7th Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, 
London, E14 2BG.





DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS - NOTE FROM THE MONITORING OFFICER

This note is for guidance only.  For further details please consult the Members’ Code of Conduct 
at Part 5.1 of the Council’s Constitution.   

Please note that the question of whether a Member has an interest in any matter, and whether or 
not that interest is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, is for that Member to decide.  Advice is 
available from officers as listed below but they cannot make the decision for the Member.  If in 
doubt as to the nature of an interest it is advisable to seek advice prior to attending a meeting.  

Interests and Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs)

You have an interest in any business of the authority where that business relates to or is likely to 
affect any of the persons, bodies or matters listed in section 4.1 (a) of the Code of Conduct; and 
might reasonably be regarded as affecting the well-being or financial position of yourself, a 
member of your family or a person with whom you have a close association, to a greater extent 
than the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward affected.

You must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of any such interest, for inclusion in the Register 
of Members’ Interests which is available for public inspection and on the Council’s Website.

Once you have recorded an interest in the Register, you are not then required to declare that 
interest at each meeting where the business is discussed, unless the interest is a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest (DPI).

A DPI is defined in Regulations as a pecuniary interest of any of the descriptions listed at 
Appendix A overleaf.  Please note that a Member’s DPIs include his/her own relevant interests 
and also those of his/her spouse or civil partner; or a person with whom the Member is living as 
husband and wife; or a person with whom the Member is living as if they were civil partners; if the 
Member is aware that that other person has the interest.   

Effect of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest on participation at meetings

Where you have a DPI in any business of the Council you must, unless you have obtained a 
dispensation from the authority's Monitoring Officer following consideration by the Dispensations 
Sub-Committee of the Standards Advisory Committee:-

- not seek to improperly influence a decision about that business; and
- not exercise executive functions in relation to that business.

If you are present at a meeting where that business is discussed, you must:-
- Disclose to the meeting  the existence and nature of the interest at the start of the meeting 

or when the interest becomes apparent, if later; and 
- Leave the room (including any public viewing area) for the duration of consideration and 

decision on the item and not seek to influence the debate or decision 

When declaring a DPI, Members should specify the nature of the interest and the agenda item to 
which the interest relates.  This procedure is designed to assist the public’s understanding of the 
meeting and to enable a full record to be made in the minutes of the meeting.  



Where you have a DPI in any business of the authority which is not included in the Member’s 
register of interests and you attend a meeting of the authority at which the business is 
considered, in addition to disclosing the interest to that meeting, you must also within 28 days 
notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest for inclusion in the Register. 

Further advice

For further advice please contact:

Melanie Clay, Corporate Director of Law, Probity & Governance & Monitoring Officer, 
Telephone Number: 020 7364 4800



APPENDIX A:  Definition of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest

(Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, Reg 2 and Schedule)

Subject Prescribed description
Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vacation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 
for profit or gain.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 
than from the relevant authority) made or provided within the 
relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred by the 
Member in carrying out duties as a member, or towards the 
election expenses of the Member.
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union 
within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a 
body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and 
the relevant authority—
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works 
are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the relevant authority for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where—
(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and
(b) either—

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the 
total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the 
relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth 
of the total issued share capital of that class.





HEALTH SCRUTINY PANEL, 20/04/2016 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

1

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS

MINUTES OF THE HEALTH SCRUTINY PANEL

HELD AT 7.00 P.M. ON WEDNESDAY, 20 APRIL 2016

MP702, 7TH FLOOR, TOWN HALL, MULBERRY PLACE, 5 CLOVE CRESCENT, 
LONDON, E14 2BG

Members Present:

Councillor Amina Ali (Chair)
Councillor Abdul Asad
Councillor Danny Hassell

Co-opted Members Present:

David Burbidge – Healthwatch Tower Hamlets 
Representative

Tim Oliver – Healthwatch Tower Hamlets 
Representative

Apologies:
Councillor Sabina Akhtar
Councillor Craig Aston
Councillor Dave Chesterton
Councillor John Pierce

Others Present:

Jo Carter

Dr Sam Everington
Deborah Kelly
Neil Kennett-Brown

– Stakeholder Relations Manager, 
Barts Health NHS Trust

– Tower Hamlets CCG
– Barts Health NHS Trust
– Director of Transformation, Tower 

Hamlets, Newham and Waltham 
Forest CCG

Officers Present:

Dr Some Banerjee
Leo Nicholas

– Director of Public Health
– Senior Strategy, Policy & 

Performance Officer
Sarah Vallelly

Seye Aina

– Strategy, Policy & Performance 
Officer

– Committee Services Officer, 
Democratic Services



HEALTH SCRUTINY PANEL, 20/04/2016 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

2

1. FILMING PROCEEDINGS 

At the start of the meeting the Chair moved and it was - 

Resolved with the agreement of those in attendance that:

The first part of the meeting be filmed for a video which aims to show how the 
Council, through the work of the Health Scrutiny Panel is working with 
commissioners, providers, voluntary sector organisations, community groups 
and local people to improve local maternity services for the future.

2. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests.

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S) 

That the minutes of the Health Scrutiny Panel held on 17 February 2016 be 
approved as a correct record of the proceedings.

4. VARIATION TO THE ORDER OF BUSINESS 

The Chair moved and it was - 

Resolved:

To vary order of business to enable the Panel to first consider the agenda 
item which required a decision. The agenda items were considered in the 
following order - items 3.4, 3.1, 3.2 and 3.3.

5. REPORTS FOR CONSIDERATION 

5.1 Children & Young People's Mental Health Services Scrutiny Challenge 
Session 

Councillor Amina Ali, Chair of the Health Scrutiny Panel presented the report. 
The report highlighted the challenge session which brought together 
representatives from the Council, Tower Hamlets CCG, Tower Hamlets 
CAMHS and community organisations to explore the level of provision and the 
performance of children and young people’s mental health services in Tower 
Hamlets. The Panel noted the following recommendations of the Health 
Scrutiny Panel Challenge Session on Children & Young People’s Mental 
Health Services -



HEALTH SCRUTINY PANEL, 20/04/2016 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

3

Recommendation1:
That the Council and Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group (THCCG) 
work with the voluntary and community sector to support and strengthen early 
intervention services in the Borough. 

Recommendation 2: 
That the Council, CCG, specialist  CAMHS and local services raise 
awareness of mental health issues, before children and young people reach 
specialist services, by promoting patient stories and examples of what mental 
health issues can turn into, with particular focus on BME communities. 

Recommendation 3: 
That the Council ensure all frontline professionals who come into contact with 
children regularly or/and in a professional capacity (not just mental health 
professionals) are able to identify children with mental health issues and know 
what to do once they have identified a vulnerable child. 

Recommendation 4: 
That the Council reviews the data it holds on care leavers and pregnancy to 
investigate if there is a link between care leavers, teenage pregnancy and 
mental health issues. 

Recommendation 5: 
That the Council undertakes further work with young care leavers to educate 
them on sexual health. 

Recommendation 6: 
As part of any future re-fresh of the Local Transformation Plan; the Council, 
CCG and partner agencies consider how services can be improved for 
children and young people who are in contact with the criminal justice 
services, and who have a higher vulnerability to mental health problems. 

Recommendation 7: 
That the Council and THCCG strengthen engagement and training for 
CAMHS service users to empower them with the skills and knowledge to 
effectively contributes to service development. 

Recommendation 8: 
That the THCCG work with CAMHS to review GP training in children and 
young people’s mental health, including raising awareness of referral 
pathways for service users. 

Recommendation 9: 
That the Council, THCCG, and Tower Hamlets CAMHS work with community 
leaders to improve cultural understanding of mental health and raise 
awareness of the services in place to support residents with a mental health 
need. 



HEALTH SCRUTINY PANEL, 20/04/2016 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

4

Recommendation 10: 
That the Council, THCCG and CAMHS undertake work to reduce the stigma 
of mental health including rebranding and renaming services. 

Recommendation 11: 
That CAMHS consider ways to make the service more accessible through 
reviewing their workforce to ensure it is reflective of the community. 

Recommendation 12: 
That the Council, THCCG and CAMHS improve engagement with children 
and families in order to increase awareness of mental health in all 
communities in the borough. 

Recommendation 13: 
That the Council undertakes an audit to check the usage and success of the 
CAF system in Children Centres and other universal services. 

Recommendation 14: 
That the Council and THCCG raise awareness about mental health and 
support services amongst non-MH staff working with young people to improve 
accessibility to appropriate support.

The Panel considered the report and commented as follows – 

 The recommendations are general and the action plan will need to be 
detailed and service specific.

 Recommendation 9 requires more information including how it is 
intended to improve cultural understanding and raise awareness.

 Recommendation 3 and 13 needs to include information on youth 
services.

RESOLVED THAT:

1. The presentation and report be noted.

2. The additional proposed changes to the recommendations be received 
and noted.

5.2 Bart's Health Trust Quality Accounts 

Deborah Kelly and Jo Carter, Barts Health NHS Trust, presented the report 
and provided an overview of the Bart’s Health Trust Quality Accounts for 
scrutiny and consultation. They reported that the Quality Accounts have not 
yet been published and the deadline to look at this is 18 May 2016. The report 
outlined the following – 

 Performance in 2015-16: Delivering safe and compassionate care in 
our hospitals



HEALTH SCRUTINY PANEL, 20/04/2016 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

5

 Delivering safe and compassionate care in our communities.
 Innovation in healthcare
 Performance in 2015-16 against Commissioning for Quality and 

Innovation Scheme (CQUINS).
 Summary of priorities for 2016 -17
 CQUINS for 2016 -17
 Quality Assurance
 Mandated Indicators

The Panel considered the report and commented as follows – 

 The format of the report is not user-friendly.

 A review of the 2014/15 Quality Account and its comments will need to 
be undertaken.

 The tables need to be more readable with a better explanation of the 
indicators (red, amber, green, best, average, worst) and the report 
needs to provide an explanation of the acronyms.

 The figures provided in the staff survey indicator on page 22 are not 
clear. For example it refers to discrimination a work but it is not clear if 
the figures provided are measured by percentages.

 The priorities for 2016-17 need to be clearer. It is not clear if the 
examples on pressure ulcers refer to local or national objectives.

 There is insufficient information on special measures.

RESOLVED THAT: 

1. The presentation and report be noted.

2. Comments made be reviewed and the Panel be provided with updated 
information at the next meeting.

3. Tower Hamlets CCG share their comments on the 2014/15 Quality 
Accounts with the HSP.

4. A specific presentation by Barts Health on the Quality Accounts is 
arranged for the HSP prior to the deadline for comments.

5. In future the HSP be included on the circulation list for Barts Health 
NHS safe and compassionate news and the annual report and also 
receive an invitation to the AGM. 

5.3 Healthwatch Tower Hamlets - Community Intelligence Report 



HEALTH SCRUTINY PANEL, 20/04/2016 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

6

David Burbidge, Healthwatch Tower Hamlets, presented the report in relation 
to the Tower Hamlets community intelligence bursary. He informed the Panel 
that it is a programme developed in partnership with Healthwatch Tower 
Hamlets, NHS Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), Tower 
Hamlets Citizens, Queen Mary University and Tower Hamlets Council for 
Voluntary Services (CVS) to ensure that the needs and views of the local 
community directly affect how health and social care services are designed, 
commissioned and delivered within Tower Hamlets. The report set out the 
current activities and new ways of working with Tower Hamlet residents. 
David Burbidge reported on the following – 

 The Community Intelligence Bursary in numbers
 The overarching recommendations
 Carers
 Older people
 Children and young people
 General Practice
 Dual Diagnosis
 Integrated care
 Equality and Diversity

The Chair welcomed the report and the Panel commented as follows –

 Report is very grass-root based and is specific to the community.

 Does Equality and Diversity report take account of employment issues?

 Peer networks such as Football clubs are mentioned and one could 
develop links with the Professional Football Association to get players 
to discuss topics such as diet.

 There is a need to engage with new enterprises about health.

 There is a need to empower the communities.

 Health issues raised in the report need to be manifested within the 
statutory regulations for planning.

 How will the community intelligence bursary be monitored?

In response to comments and questions from the Panel, David Burbidge 
informed the Panel that research looked at organisations such as the Asian 
People’s Disability Alliance and Account 3 Limited to address the unsupported 
health needs, the provision of services and the effects that caring 
responsibilities have on health, social and economic circumstances. The Joint 
Committee, CCG and Healthwatch monitor the community intelligence 
bursary and this year another report will be prepared to look in more detail at 
possible solutions to the issues raised in this report.



HEALTH SCRUTINY PANEL, 20/04/2016 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

7

Dr Sam Everington stated that we are way ahead on social prescribing and 
the shift is now what matters to you and how we can help people to be 
empowered.

RESOLVED THAT the report be noted.

5.4 Transforming Services Together 

Neil Kennett-Brown, Director of Transformation, Tower Hamlets, Newham and 
Waltham Forest CCG presented the report. The report provided an update on 
the Transforming Services Together (TST) programme a partnership 
programme of work between Tower Hamlets, Waltham Forest and Newham 
CCG’s and Barts Health Trust. A period of public engagement began on 29 
February 2016 and runs until 22 May 2016. The Strategy and Investment 
Case recommends investing in care closer to home, new models of care at 
our hospitals, more modern facilities and developing new ways of working. 
Neil Kennett-Brown  reported the following –

 Challenges include a massive projective growth in the population.
 Increase in demand at Whipps Cross and Newham Hospitals.
 A spending freeze on NHS budgets.
 The need to improve the quality of care and patient experience.
 The workforce is stretched.
 The over-reliance on medical services
 Facilities and IT systems

To deliver the programme specific initiatives to tackle the priorities for change 
have been created. These are –

 Care close to home
 Strong sustainable hospitals
 Working across organisations

The Chair welcomed the report and the Panel commented as follows –

 There is insufficient information on services for children.

 There is insufficient information on issues such as dental health and 
sexual health.

 There is a need to do more work with Schools.

 There are concerns about the changes at Mile End.

 Surgical hubs are good but there are concerns about transportation 
particularly the need for the elderly.

 Better engagement is needed with Pharmacists, Dentists and 
Optometrists.



HEALTH SCRUTINY PANEL, 20/04/2016 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

8

In response to comments and questions from the Panel, Neil Kennett-Brown 
informed the Panel that the primary programme of work is under the health 
and wellbeing agenda. The programme had to identify and provide a 
summary of the 13 biggest schemes. However there is also additional 
information available online. There is a programme of primary care 
engagement and the aim is to change the relationship of patients in the health 
system. It is acknowledged that there is a need to engage better with 
Pharmacists, Dentists and Optometrists however, these services are not 
commission as they are under NHS England.

Dr Sam Everington stated that –

 CCG’s are already working with Schools. There is the Healthy Schools 
programme but there are still challenges of how best to approach the 
diverse population. 

 There is a need to destigmatize the perception about Mile End and 
there should not be fear as it is part of the overall expansion in Tower 
Hamlets. 

 Transport is a problem however it is difficult where to place this on the 
list of priorities in a cash-strapped NHS.

The Chair stated that there is a fear because there has been a lack of 
communication as to what is happening at Mile End and Royal London.

RESOLVED THAT the presentation and the report be noted.

6. ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS TO BE 
URGENT 

There was no other business which the Chair considered urgent.

7. NEXT MEETING OF THE PANEL 

The next meeting of the Health Scrutiny Panel will be held on Tuesday, 28 
June 2016 at 7.00 p.m. in MP702, 7th Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 
Clove Crescent, London, E14 2BG.

The meeting ended at 8.58 p.m. 

Chair, Councillor Amina Ali
Health Scrutiny Panel



Non-Executive Report of the:

Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee

28 JUNE 2016

Report of: Matthew Mannion, Committee Services 
Manager 

Classification:
Unrestricted

HEALTH SCRUTINY Sub-Committee TERMS OF REFERENCE, QUORUM, 
MEMBERSHIP AND DATES OF MEETINGS

Originating Officer(s) Farhana Zia Democratic Services

Wards affected All wards

1. Summary

1.1 This report sets out the Terms of Reference, Quorum, Membership and 
Dates of meetings of the Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee for the Municipal 
Year 2016/17 for the information of members of the Committee.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee agrees to note its Terms of 
Reference, Quorum, Membership and Dates of future meetings as set out 
in Appendices 1, 2 and 3 to this report.

3. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS

3.1    This report is for the information of the Committee and no specific decisions    
     are required.

4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

4.1     Not applicable to reports for noting.

5. Details of the Report

5.1 At the Annual General Meeting of the full Council held on 18th May 2016, 
the Authority approved the review of proportionality, establishment of the 



Committees and Panels of the Council and appointment of Members 
thereto.

5.2 At the first meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 7th 
June 2016 the Committee noted the proportionality and establishment of 
the Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee and approved the appointment of co-
opted members thereto.

5.3      It is traditional that following the Annual General Meeting of the Council at 
the start of the Municipal Year, at which various committees are 
established, that those committees note their Terms of Reference, Quorum 
and Membership for the forthcoming Municipal Year. These are set out in 
Appendix 1 and 2 to the report respectively.

5.4 The Committee’s meetings for the remainder of the year, as agreed at the 
Annual General Meeting of the Council on 18th May 2016 as set out in 
Appendix 3 to this report.

5.5 In accordance with the programme of meetings for principal meetings, 
meetings are scheduled to take place at 6.30pm, except where the 
meeting falls within the month of Ramadan which will be at 5.30 pm.  

6. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

Matters brought before the Committee under its terms of reference during 
the year will include comments on the financial implications of decisions 
provided by the Chief Finance Officer.  There are no specific comments 
arising from the recommendations in this report.

7. LEGAL COMMENTS 

7.1    The terms of reference provided for the Panel to note are in line with   
     Section 3.3.6 in Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution.

8. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS

8.1      When drawing up the schedule of dates, consideration was given to  
           avoiding schools holiday dates and known dates of religious holidays and      
           other important dates where at all possible.

9. BEST VALUE (BV) IMPLICATIONS

There are no specific Best Value implications arising from this noting 
report.

10. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT

10.1  There are no specific sustainability implications arising from this noting  



     report.

11. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

11.1 There are no specific risk management implications arising from this noting 
     report. 

12. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS

12.1 There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this    
     report.

 

Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents

Linked Report
 None

13. APPENDICES

Appendix 1 – Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee Terms of Reference 
Appendix 2 – Appointments to Committee 
Appendix 3 – Dates of Meeting

Officer contact details for documents: 

 If not supplied
Name and telephone number of holder

Farhana Zia
Democratic Services

020 7364 0842





APPENDIX 1

HEALTH SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE

1. Establishment 

1.1 The Council’s Constitution states that the Annual Council Meeting will 
establish “such other Committees/Sub-Committees as it considers 
appropriate to deal with matters which are neither Executive Functions 
nor reserved to the Council”.  

1.2 The Constitution refers to the establishment of “a standing Sub-
Committee to discharge the Council’s functions under the Health and 
Social Care Act 2001 to be known as the Health Scrutiny Sub-
Committee”.  The reference to the Health and Social Care Act 2001 is 
out of date and this should be taken as a reference to the National 
Health Service Act 2006 and the Local Authority (Public Health, Health 
and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.

1.3 At the Annual General Meeting of the Council, held on 18 May 2016 
the nominations were received the Municipal Year 2015/16 with a 
membership numbering 7, and an allocation of places in accordance 
with overall proportionality requirements as follows: 4 Majority Group 
Members (Labour), 3 Minority Group Member (Tower Hamlets First) 
and 0 Minority Group Members (Conservative). 

2. Terms of Reference and Quorum

2.1 The Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee will undertake the Council’s 
functions under the National Health Service Act 2006 and associated 
Regulations and consider matters relating to the local health service as 
provided by the NHS and other bodies including the Council:

(a) To review and scrutinise matters relating to the health service 
within the Council’s area and make reports and recommendations in 
accordance with any regulations made thereunder;

(b) To respond to consultation exercises undertaken by an NHS 
body; and

(c) To question appropriate officers of local NHS bodies in relation 
to the policies adopted and the provision of the services.

2.2 The quorum will be 3 voting members.

2.3 The Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee will meet at least four times a 
year.

3.  Reports



3.1 The Sub-Committee will report to full Council, Cabinet or the 
appropriate Cabinet member and make recommendations, as 
appropriate. All reports and/or recommendations of Scrutiny Sub-
Committees shall first be considered by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee before being reported to full Council, Cabinet or the 
appropriate Cabinet member, as appropriate.

4.  Proceedings of Scrutiny Sub-Committees

4.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and its Scrutiny Sub-
Committees will generally meet in public and conduct their proceedings 
in accordance with the Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution.



APPENDIX 2

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIPS 2016-2017

NOMINATIONS SUBMITTED TO THE ANNUAL COUNCIL MEETING ON 18 MAY 2016

HEALTH SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITEE 
(Nominations for information - Panel to be appointed by Overview & Scrutiny Committee)

(Seven members of the Council)

Labour Group (4) Independent Group (2) Conservative Group (1) 

Councillor Sabina Akhtar
Councillor Dave Chesterton
Councillor Clare Harrisson
Councillor M. Abdul Mukit

Substitutes:-

Councillor Danny Hassell
Councillor Amina Ali
Councillor Rajib Ahmed

Councillor Abdul Asad
Councillor Muhammad Ansar 
Mustaquim

Substitutes:- 

Councillor Peter Golds

Substitutes:-

Councillor Chris Chapman





APPENDIX 3

SCHEDULE OF DATES 2016/17

HEALTH SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE

Tuesday 28th June 2016 (5.30pm)
6September 2016 at 6.30pm 

2nd November 2016
17th January 2017
14th March 2017

Notes
1. The Panel, by custom has met at 6.30pm in accordance with the 
Calendar of Meetings agreed by the full Council AGM, with the exception of 
the meeting on 28th June  which is scheduled to commence at 5.30pm, as it 
falls within the holy month of Ramadan (5 June – 5 July).

2. It may be necessary to convene additional meetings of the Sub-
Committee should urgent business arise. Officers will keep the position under 
review and consult with the Chair and other Members as appropriate.





Committee:

Health Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee

Date:

28/06/16

Classification:

Unrestricted

Report No. Agenda 
Item

Report of: 

Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee: 

Originating Officer:
Sarah Vallelly, Strategy Policy & 
Performance Officer

Title:  

Review of Maternity Services at the 
Royal London Hospital

Wards: All

1. SUMMARY

1.1 This report provides the Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee (previously 
known as the Health Scrutiny Panel1) with the final report and 
recommendations from the Panel’s review of maternity services at the 
Royal London Hospital. The review specifically addresses patient 
experience as feedback from patient organisations had highlighted 
instances of poor experiences in terms of compassion and continuity of 
care. Barts Health Trust has agreed in principle to endorse the 
recommendations outlined in the report and to work with the council 
and other stakeholders in addressing the issues identified. A short film 
which forms part of the review and aims to bring the work of the Health 
Scrutiny Sub-Committee to life has been produced and will be shown 
at the meeting as part of this agenda item. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

The Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee is asked to:

2.1 Note the report and agree the recommendations

2.2 Authorise the Interim Service Head Corporate Strategy & Equality to 
amend the draft report before submission to Cabinet, after consultation 
with the Scrutiny Lead.

1 The terminology changed from Panel to Sub-Committee in the new 2016/17 municipal year. 
Therefore historic references to the ‘Health Scrutiny Panel’ in terms of the review are correct as it was 
carried out in 2015/16.



3. BACKGROUND

3.1 The Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee identified the performance of 
maternity services at the Royal London Hospital (RLH) as the subject 
for a review in its work programme for 2015-16. Annually 5,300 women 
give birth in Tower Hamlets, and the majority of them have their babies 
at the RLH. Clinical outcomes at the RLH are excellent, and the 
hospital deals with a high proportion of complex, high acuity births. 
However, a number of inspections and investigations that have taken 
place in the last two years; most significantly the report of the Care 
Quality Commission published in May 2015 have raised concerns 
about aspects of the service, for example long delays in waiting areas 
and inadequate staffing levels. Issues such as staffing deficits can 
impact on patient care.

3.2 The Sub-Committee wanted to find out the extent to which patients’ 
experiences have improved since the move from the old Royal London 
Hospital (RLH) to the new site which opened in 2012 and to examine 
the improvement plans that Barts Health Trust (BHT) and the Tower 
Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group (THCCG) have developed. 
Through listening to patient feedback the review explored the extent to 
which women are involved in monitoring and planning services and 
how accessible and responsive services are for people from different 
social and equalities backgrounds. The Sub-Committee members were 
also keen to understand the reasons for the differences across the 
sites (RLH and Barkantine Birth Centre) and the extent to which 
various improvement plans were impacting on the quality of patient 
experience.

3.3 In summary, the aim of the review was:
 To understand the reasons for differences in patient experiences from 

the Barkantine Birth Centre compared to the main Royal London 
Hospital site.

 To assess the actual and planned impact of various initiatives and 
programmes that Barts Health Trust (BHT) has put in place to improve 
patient experience in maternity care.

 To evaluate evidence from a range of sources of data in order to 
understand whether there are inequalities in terms of the quality of 
patient experience that affect particular groups or communities.

 To look at the role of local community services that are designed to 
support pregnant women through their pregnancies and birth and how 
these services can be developed further. 

 To explore the extent to which local women are involved in planning 
and monitoring services.

3.4 In doing so, the Sub-Committee’s main objective was to produce 
informed and practical recommendations based on the evidence from 
the review to help the RLH and partners improve maternity care for the 
future.  



3.5 The full report with recommendations is included as Appendix 1 to this 
report. 17 recommendations have been made:

Recommendation 1: That Barts Health Trust explores how it can further 
implement good practice on offering compassionate care, particularly for 
women who have had traumatic births and those who do not speak English as 
their first language. 

Recommendation 2: That Barts Health Trust reviews its midwife recruitment 
strategy to ensure that it strengthens its approach to increasing the diversity 
of staff to reflect the characteristics of the local population. 

Recommendation 3: That Barts Health Trust carries out a 6-12 months in 
depth study focused on patient experience following the opening of the new 
co-located unit in August to provide deeper insight and assurance around 
improvement plans that are being implemented.  

Recommendation 4: That Barts Health Trust develops options to ensure that 
there is sufficient time dedicated for a range of staff to provide information to 
patients, particularly for women who do not speak English as a first language.

Recommendation 5: That Barts Health Trust ensures that it incorporates the 
findings and recommendations from the National Maternity Review in terms of 
how it tailors support to women who do not read and speak English.

Recommendation 6: That subject to the findings of an evaluation of the 
Maternity Mates service; Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group and 
Barts Health Trust work to further develop and strengthen the Maternity Mates 
service to expand its role working with midwives and local women in hospital 
settings and the wider community. This should include working with a diverse 
range of local women both as service users and Maternity Mates with a 
particular focus on minority groups such as the Somali community.

Recommendation 7: That Barts Health Trust regularly reviews the process 
for conducting handovers between shifts to ensure that this process is as 
seamless as possible for staff and patients.  

Recommendation 8: That Barts Health Trust reviews the information 
provided as part of antenatal and postnatal care and works with patient 
groups (Maternity Services Liaison Committee, Healthwatch Tower Hamlets,  
National Childbirth Trust) and local residents to ensure information is 
accessible, appropriate and meets local needs.
 
Recommendation 9: That the Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group 
continues to fund, support and strengthen the Maternity Services Liaison 
Committee as a key mechanism for involving local women in shaping the 
future of maternity services in the borough. 

Recommendation 10: That Barts Health Trust strengthens its discharge 
planning with patients and ensures that adequate time is taken for patients to 



understand the information provided and that it reflects their needs and 
choices. This is particularly the case for women who do not speak English as 
a first language.

Recommendation 11: That Barts Health Trust reviews its resource allocation 
systems to enable staff to have more time to spend with patients.

Recommendation 12: That Barts Health Trust builds on its work to engage 
staff groups and patient organisations in plans for designing wards and 
waiting areas. 

Recommendation 13: That Barts Health Trust develops a ‘listening in action’ 
programme so that midwives and ward staff can share practice with managers 
and learning is cascaded ‘up’ the management chain.

Recommendation 14: That Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group 
and Barts Health Trust review the demand modelling process to ensure they 
can better understand future demand and enable Barts Health Trust to ensure 
sufficient resources can be allocated more swiftly to meet peaks in demand. 

Recommendation 15: That Barts Health Trust  improves the way that data on 
patient experience is collated and finds a way of bringing together data from 
various sources that can be analysed at a sufficient level of granularity, for 
example ethnicity, age group and site specific. 

Recommendation 16: That Barts Health Trust strengthens how it is using 
patient feedback (good and bad) and to demonstrate to patient representative 
groups how this feeds into improvement plans. 

Recommendation 17: That Barts Health Trust works with patient 
representative groups and forums to develop easily accessible, timely and 
intuitive ways to give feedback. Linked to this that Public Health review how 
the new birth visit (and 6-8 weeks check) could provide an opportunity to 
better capture patient experience feedback and to develop a process to feed 
this information back to Barts Health Trust. 



4. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

4.1 This is a noting report and there are no direct financial implications on 
the Council as a result of the recommendations within this report. 
However, the 17 recommendations above aimed at improving maternity 
services at the Royal London Hospital, could have financial implications 
on both Barts Health Trust and Tower Hamlets CCG. These will need 
to be considered by the relevant bodies.

5. LEGAL COMMENTS 

5.1 The Council is required by section 9F of the Local Government Act 
2000 to have an Overview and Scrutiny Committee to discharge the 
functions conferred by sections 9F to 9FI of the Local Government Act 
2000; or any functions which may be conferred on it by virtue of 
regulations under section 244(2ZE) of the National Health Service Act 
2006 (local authority scrutiny of health matters).  The scrutiny of health 
matters is undertaken by this Sub-Committee.  Both the Committee and 
the Sub-Committee may also make reports and recommendations to 
the Full Council or the Executive in connection with the discharge of 
any functions.

5.2 This report provides details of a Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee review 
looking at Maternity Services at Royal London Hospital.  A review 
report has been prepared and which makes 17 recommendations all of 
which appear to be capable of being carried out within the Council’s 
powers.

5.3 When considering its approach to scrutiny of health matters, the 
Council must have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful 
conduct under the Equality Act 2010; the need to advance equality of 
opportunity; and the need to foster good relations between persons 
who share a protected characteristic and those who do not.

6. APPENDICES
Appendix 1: Report

http://www.lexisnexis.com/uk/legal/search/enhRunRemoteLink.do?A=0.1632796908690506&service=citation&langcountry=GB&backKey=20_T23369354351&linkInfo=F%23GB%23UK_ACTS%23num%252006_41a%25sect%25244%25section%25244%25&ersKey=23_T23369354344




APPENDIX ONE

1

Health Scrutiny Panel

Review of Maternity Services at 
Royal London Hospital

London Borough of Tower Hamlets
June 2016



APPENDIX ONE

2

Chair’s foreword

Tower Hamlets has the fastest growing population of anywhere in the UK. The Health Scrutiny Panel 
wants to ensure that everyone born in the borough now and in the future has the best possible start 
in life, and women and their families from across our diverse community are supported throughout 
their pregnancy, birth and postnatal care. 

Learning from what patients and were saying about their experiences has been at the heart of this 
review. To make services better it is vital that patients have the right opportunities to feedback on 
their experience of services and that they receive the right level of assurance that their views can 
make a difference. 

For a number of years, the Panel has been hearing that patient experiences of maternity services at 
the Royal London Hospital are not always as good as they should be. Some women, particularly those 
who do not speak or read English have had particularly poor experiences. This needs to change. 

Over the past few years there have been several reviews and inspections of maternity services at the 
Royal London which have raised similar issues about patient experiences but only limited progress 
has been made. This is set to change. A new leadership team at Barts Health Trust and a new 
midwife-led maternity unit at the Royal London will help to ease the pressure on the existing service 
and transform the care that patients receive.  The Health Scrutiny Panel is pleased that Barts Health 
NHS Trust and other partner organisations are keen to work with the Panel to take forward the 
recommendations in this review 

I would like to thank all the council officers who have worked on this review, especially colleagues 
from Public Health for their expert advice. My particular thanks also to the local community 
organisations; Healthwatch Tower Hamlets, the Maternity Services Liaison Committee, Maternity 
Mates and the National Childbirth Trust for bringing the community and service user perspective to 
the review. Finally, gratitude is due to the officers from Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group, 
the Care Quality Commission and Barts Health NHS Trust who presented evidence for this review and 
organised site visits to the Royal London Hospital and the Barkantine Centre.  

Most significantly I would like to thank our co-opted members from the Maternity Services Liaison 
Committee and the patients themselves as it is their voices that are at the heart of this review. 

I recommend this review to you.  

Councillor Amina Ali

Chair of the Health Scrutiny Panel (2015-16) 



APPENDIX ONE

3

Table of contents

1. Introduction..................................................................................................................................................6

1a) Methodology ................................................................................................................................................6

2. Background and context ............................................................................................................................9

2a) The National picture .....................................................................................................................................9

National review of maternity services ..........................................................................................................10

2b) National patient perspectives ....................................................................................................................11

2c) Maternal health in Tower Hamlets .............................................................................................................11

Barts Health Trust quality and performance ................................................................................................15

RLH complaints .............................................................................................................................................16

3. Findings .......................................................................................................................................................16

3a) Differences between the Royal London Hospital and the Barkantine Birth Centre ...................................18

3b) Compassionate care ...................................................................................................................................19

Great Expectations Programme....................................................................................................................21

Cultural differences in patient experience ...................................................................................................22

Maternity Mates ...........................................................................................................................................22

Cultural change.............................................................................................................................................24

3c) Consistency and continuity of care .............................................................................................................24

3d) Communication: information, choice and control .....................................................................................25

3e) Women’s involvement in planning and monitoring services .....................................................................26

3f) Capacity, organisation and administration..................................................................................................27

Hospital discharge planning..........................................................................................................................27

Resource allocation and design ....................................................................................................................28

3g) Patient experience:  feedback and complaints...........................................................................................29

4. Conclusion ..................................................................................................................................................32

APPENDIX A: GLOSSARY........................................................................................................................................34

APPENDIX B: ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ...................................................................................................................36



APPENDIX ONE

4

RECOMMENDATIONS

Compassionate care

Recommendation 1: That Barts Health Trust explores how it can further implement good 
practice on offering compassionate care, particularly for women who have had traumatic births 
and those who do not speak English as their first language. 

Recommendation 2: That Barts Health Trust reviews its midwife recruitment strategy to ensure 
that it strengthens its approach to increasing the diversity of staff to reflect the characteristics 
of the local population. 

Recommendation 3: That Barts Health Trust carries out a 6-12 months in depth study focused 
on patient experience following the opening of the new co-located unit in August to provide 
deeper insight and assurance around improvement plans that are being implemented.  

Recommendation 4: That Barts Health Trust develops options to ensure that there is sufficient 
time dedicated for a range of staff to provide information to patients, particularly for women 
who do not speak English as a first language.

Recommendation 5: That Barts Health Trust ensures that it incorporates the findings and 
recommendations from the National Maternity Review in terms of how it tailors support to 
women who do not read and speak English.

Recommendation 6: That subject to the findings of an evaluation of the Maternity Mates 
service; Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group and Barts Health Trust work to further 
develop and strengthen the Maternity Mates service to expand its role working with midwives 
and local women in hospital settings and the wider community. This should include working 
with a diverse range of local women both as service users and Maternity Mates with a 
particular focus on minority groups such as the Somali community.

Consistency and continuity of care

Recommendation 7: That Barts Health Trust regularly reviews the process for conducting 
handovers between shifts to ensure that this process is as seamless as possible for staff and 
patients.  

Communication: Information, choice and control

Recommendation 8: That Barts Health Trust reviews the information provided as part of 
antenatal and postnatal care and works with patient groups (Maternity Services Liaison 
Committee, Healthwatch Tower Hamlets,  National Childbirth Trust) and local residents to 
ensure information is accessible, appropriate and meets local needs.
 



APPENDIX ONE

5

Women’s involvement in planning and monitoring services

Recommendation 9: That the Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group continues to fund, 
support and strengthen the Maternity Services Liaison Committee as a key mechanism for 
involving local women in shaping the future of maternity services in the borough. 

Capacity, organisation and administration

Recommendation 10: That Barts Health Trust strengthens its discharge planning with patients 
and ensures that adequate time is taken for patients to understand the information provided 
and that it reflects their needs and choices. This is particularly the case for women who do not 
speak English as a first language.

Recommendation 11: That Barts Health Trust reviews its resource allocation systems to enable 
staff to have more time to spend with patients.

Recommendation 12: That Barts Health Trust builds on its work to engage staff groups and 
patient organisations in plans for designing wards and waiting areas. 

Recommendation 13: That Barts Health Trust develops a ‘listening in action’ programme so 
that midwives and ward staff can share practice with managers and learning is cascaded ‘up’ 
the management chain.

Recommendation 14: That Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group and Barts Health Trust 
review the demand modelling process to ensure they can better understand future demand 
and enable Barts Health Trust to ensure sufficient resources can be allocated more swiftly to 
meet peaks in demand. 

Patient experience, feedback and complaints

Recommendation 15: That Barts Health Trust  improves the way that data on patient 
experience is collated and finds a way of bringing together data from various sources that can 
be analysed at a sufficient level of granularity, for example ethnicity, age group and site 
specific. 

Recommendation 16: That Barts Health Trust strengthens how it is using patient feedback 
(good and bad) and to demonstrate to patient representative groups how this feeds into 
improvement plans. 

Recommendation 17: That Barts Health Trust works with patient representative groups and 
forums to develop easily accessible, timely and intuitive ways to give feedback. Linked to this 
that Public Health review how the new birth visit (and 6-8 weeks check) could provide an 
opportunity to better capture patient experience feedback and to develop a process to feed 
this information back to Barts Health Trust. 



APPENDIX ONE

6

1. Introduction

1.1 The Health Scrutiny Panel (HSP) identified the performance of maternity services at the Royal 
London Hospital (RLH) as the subject for a review in its work programme for 2015-16. 
Annually 5,300 women give birth in Tower Hamlets, and the majority of them have their 
babies at the RLH. Clinical outcomes at the RLH are excellent, and the hospital deals with a 
high proportion of complex, high acuity births. However, a number of inspections and 
investigations that have taken place in the last two years; most significantly the report of the 
Care Quality Commission published in May 2015 have raised concerns about aspects of the 
service, for example long delays in waiting areas and inadequate staffing levels. Issues such as 
staffing deficits can impact on patient care. 

1.2 The Panel wanted to find out the extent to which patients’ experiences have improved since 
the move from the old Royal London Hospital (RLH) to the new site which opened in 2012 and 
to examine the improvement plans that Barts Health Trust (BHT) and the Tower Hamlets 
Clinical Commissioning Group (THCCG) have developed. Through listening to patient feedback 
the review explored the extent to which women are involved in monitoring and planning 
services and how accessible and responsive services are for people from different social and 
equalities backgrounds. The Panel members were also keen to understand the reasons for the 
differences across the sites (RLH and Barkantine Birth Centre) and the extent to which various 
improvement plans were impacting on the quality of patient experience. 

In summary, the aim of the review was:
 To understand the reasons for differences in patient experiences from the Barkantine 

Birth Centre compared to the RLH.
 To assess the actual and planned impact of various initiatives and programmes that Barts 

Health Trust (BHT) has put in place to improve patient experience in maternity care.
 To evaluate evidence from a range of sources of data in order to understand whether 

there are inequalities in terms of the quality of patient experience that affect particular 
groups or communities.

 To look at the role of local community services that are designed to support pregnant 
women through their pregnancies and birth and how these services can be developed 
further. 

 To explore the extent to which local women are involved in planning and monitoring 
services.

In doing so, the HSP’s main objective was to produce informed and practical 
recommendations based on the evidence from the review to help the RLH and partners 
improve maternity care for the future.  

1a) Methodology

1.3 To inform the Panel’s work a range of meetings and evidence gathering activities were 
undertaken between December 2015 and March 2016. These included the following: 

 The first meeting set out the local context to give an overview of local needs and demand 
along with commissioner and provider perspectives on the challenges faced. Tower 



APPENDIX ONE

7

Hamlets Public Health set the background to the review by giving an overview of key data 
on maternal health in the borough. Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
outlined the commissioner perspective on how they monitor the service provided and 
hold the provider to account. The CCG also covered how local women are involved in 
service planning and monitoring, and how patient experience feedback is captured and 
used. Barts Health Trust, (BHT) gave an overview of the services provided, the challenges 
faced and the various initiatives and improvement plans it has put in place.  

 The second meeting focused on patient experience and other support provision in the 
community. This session involved the following: 

 A presentation from Social Action for Health (SAFH) who, since 2005, have run the 
Maternity Services Liaison Committee (MSLC) in Tower Hamlets. The MSLC is a 
local community led group which aims to capture patient experience to inform 
service improvement and ensure that the provider and commissioner take patient 
views into account. The MSLC report drew together insight from a total of 990 
women over the period April 2014 to December 2015. During this time the MSLC 
held 32 outreach sessions and 11 support groups with local mothers. 

 Women’s Health & Family Services (WHFS) gave an overview of their Maternity 
Mates service as an illustration of local good practice in supporting women who 
have additional care and support needs, for example those who may be isolated, 
have complex health needs or do not speak English. The service is a peer support 
scheme; Maternity Mates receive accredited training and work alongside health 
professionals to provide advice, information and emotional and practical support. 

 Healthwatch Tower Hamlets (HWTH) presented a report on patient experience 
data they collated. HWTH carried out an Enter and View1 visit to the RLH maternity 
service in December 2015 updating information from a previous visit in 2014. This 
was supplemented by analysis of patient comments and feedback from a range of 
other sources including NHS Choices that was brought together on the 
Healthwatch Information Hub. The timeframe for capture of patient experience 
data was July 2014 to December 2015. 

 The National Childbirth Trust (NCT) presented a summary of a recent online 
patient experience survey and outlined what good patient experience of maternity 
services looks like. The survey was ‘live’ for three days in December 2015 and a 
total of 16 detailed responses were received; 15 from women plus one from a 
male partner. The survey sought responses from women who had given birth at 
the RLH over the previous five years (2010 – 2015). It is worth noting that over this 
period, over 20,000 births took place at the RLH. The findings from this survey 
therefore are not necessarily representative of patient experiences across the 
whole population but do give detailed, personal insight into some important 
concerns which have been raised in other, more extensive investigations such as 
the National Maternity Review.

 The third meeting involved a presentation on the results from the last Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) inspection report published in May 2015 and a progress update from 
BHT on its improvement plan responding to the inspection findings.

 Site visits to the Barkantine Birth Centre and the RLH to understand the differences in 
patient experiences at the two sites and to speak to patients and staff. 

1 Local Healthwatch organisations have a number of statutory powers including Enter and View which means that their 
authorised and trained representatives can visit any public funded health and care facilities to observe service delivery, 
the care environment and to capture service user and patient experience.  



APPENDIX ONE

8

 A broader literature review of national reports and local evidence including Healthwatch 
reports and sources of patient feedback and progress reports from the RLH. 

 Evidence from the site visits including feedback from conversations with patients and 
staff. It supplemented this by looking at recent (post November 2015) sources of patient 
feedback including NHS Choices. 

 A final meeting of the Panel and key partners to discuss the findings and 
recommendations was held on 22nd March 2016. 

1.4 The evidence on patient experience was mainly qualitative. Where possible, this evidence has 
been examined in relation to broader trends and survey data on patient experience. In health 
care, qualitative methods are used primarily to capture in depth information on patient 
experience, attitudes, behaviours and interactions. The data that emerge are rich but not 
numerical so taken together they give a detailed description of experience rather than a 
scientific measure of representativeness.  

1.5 To gauge national concerns around maternity services key documents that have been 
referenced include: 

 CQC State of Care (2015) 
 National Maternity Review (February 2016) 
 Healthwatch England briefing on Maternity Care (December 2015) 
 Maternity Survey 2015 (Picker Institute, February 2015) 

1.6 Information was received from the Council’s Public Health team in relation to the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) projected population figures and trends data. This also 
included information about health inequalities, demography and prevalence of long term 
conditions. CQC hospital inspection reports were also reviewed. Information was also 
received from Tower Hamlets Healthwatch on the experiences of local people using maternity 
services and information on complaints data, training packages, patient feedback and 
improvement plans from Barts Health Trust and the Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG). 

1.7 A key challenge in terms of presenting an overall picture of the quality of patient experience 
at the RLH is the availability of quality assured data from a range of sources. National surveys 
(Picker Institute) only offer a snapshot at a point in time; there is usually a significant time lag 
between event and data capture and response rates to such surveys tend to be low. 
Therefore this undermines confidence that the results are representative. Currently, the 
overall picture of patient experience data is fragmented and there is no overarching system 
for bringing this altogether in one place. 



APPENDIX ONE

9

2. Background and context

2a) The National picture

2.1 Each year there are almost 700,000 live births across England. Having a baby is the most 
common reason for hospital admission. 94% of births occur in hospitals annually2. While most 
women have a positive experience of birth, this is not always the case and there is a great 
deal of national variation across different Trusts and hospitals.   

2.2 In the last two years there have been a number of high profile reports that have raised serious 
concerns about patient safety within NHS maternity services, most significantly the 
investigation into serious failings at the Furness Hospital in Morecambe Bay3.  The report 
found that there had been major dysfunction at every level within the hospital over a period 
of nearly 10 years and several opportunities to recognise the problems over this period were 
missed. It is unsurprising then, that maternity services have subsequently been an issue for 
increased scrutiny nationally and locally. A key recommendation from this investigation was 
to produce a national review of maternity services. 

2.3 It is well documented that the NHS is under increasing pressure with many trusts in financial 
deficit; there is also a growing staffing crisis in many areas. In February 2016, there were 
newspaper reports4 that BHT would report a year end £134.9 million deficit; the largest ever 
overspend reported by a single trust in the history of the NHS.  The size of the financial 
deficits in NHS trusts across the country indicates that the additional £1.8 billion funding 
allocated by the government to the NHS in 2016/17 will be inadequate to cover the current 
overspend. The Kings Fund estimates that the total financial deficit of NHS Trusts in England 
for 2015/16 is £2.3 billion5. 

2.4 The Royal College of Midwives (RCM) 2015 report calculated that in 2014 there was a shortfall 
of 2,600 midwives in England. NICE have recently published guidelines on safe staffing levels 
which is helping Trusts to calculate the staffing levels needed. The London Safety Standards 
(2013) recommended national staffing level is one midwife dealing with no more than 30 
births per year; a ratio of 1:30. For the RLH each midwife should deal with 28 births per year 
which translates to a staffing ratio of 1:28 and reflects the higher acuity of needs in East 
London compared to the rest of the country. The RCM report warns that inadequate staffing 
levels are detrimental to overall patient experience. 

“When there are not enough midwives it is the quality of the service that women receive that 
suffers.”

2 NHS England data (2013) 
3 Kirkup, W (2015) The report of the investigation into Morecambe Bay, HM Government, London
4 The Guardian, 7th February 2016 http://www.theguardian.com/society/2016/feb/07/barts-london-hospital-trust-
biggest-overspend-nhs-history
5 Kings Fund (2016) Quarterly Monitoring Report,  February 2016, London 



APPENDIX ONE

10

National review of maternity services

2.5 The national review of maternity services6 published in February 2016 was the result of one of 
the key recommendations from the Morecambe Bay investigation. Key findings include that 
whilst nationally, maternity services are safer than ever with a 20% fall in neonatal deaths 
over the last decade, there is significant variation in quality of service and patient experiences. 
Over the same time period, more women are giving birth at an older age, and more women 
are living with long term, complex health conditions. All this has contributed to the complexity 
of births increasing but at the same time, clinical outcomes are improving. The review also 
recognised that pressures on hospitals and staff were increasing with many hospitals being at 
100% occupancy rates most of the time. The report found that the best maternity services are 
based on a strong learning culture and a good team-working ethos. 

The foreword to the review by Baroness Cumberlege (chair) states there is an unacceptable 
level of variation of quality care and patient experience across the country. The review also 
found that there is often a defensive culture when it comes to hospitals learning from 
mistakes: 

“Things go wrong too often. We spend £560 million each year on compensating families for 
negligence during maternity care. And when things do go wrong, the fear of litigation can 
prevent staff from being open about their mistakes and learning from them.”

An extensive section of the National Maternity Review report focused on patient experience. 
Whilst birth is never risk free it is important that care should ‘wrap around’ the person. Too 
often people said they felt under pressure to make choices that fitted into existing service 
models and some resented the labelling of ‘normal’ births and risk categories. 

The report highlights that many women are not offered real choices in their care and are 
often told what to do rather than being enabled to make informed decisions. Continuity of 
care is a crucial determinant of a positive patient experience yet the review team heard that 
many women had to repeatedly explain their situations to different people because their 
notes were sketchy, incomplete or had not been read. 

Women said they valued being listened to by staff and want to know that the people caring 
for them are trained and competent. They also want their partners to be involved and 
included throughout the maternity pathway. They particularly highlighted that inconsistencies 
in communication are a big frustration for patients, particularly communication between 
professionals working on different shifts. It is frustrating for women to have to explain their 
situation repeatedly to different people, particularly at a time when they feel tired, stressed 
and vulnerable. Better use of e-records and digital communications was recommended. The 
women who were spoken to valued privacy and a supportive environment and, for those who 
had experienced complications or premature births, knowing their babies were close by. 

6 National Maternity Review (2016), Better Births, Improving Maternity Care and Outcomes, HMSO London 



APPENDIX ONE

11

Recommendations from the National Maternity Review include that services should be 
personalised around patients’ needs and women should be able to make informed choices 
about their care. Also there should be continuity of care to ensure safe care based on 
relationship of mutual trust and respect in line with woman’s decisions is also integral to a 
good patient experience.

2b) National patient perspectives

2.6 In December 2015 Healthwatch England (HWE), the national consumer champion for health 
and social care, published a report on women’s experiences of maternity services. The 
research found that there were limited opportunities and a lack of information around how 
people could give their views and feedback to help shape services, finding that

“55% of women would be willing to give their views to shape services but 70% do not know 
how”. 

The report flagged concerns about the way Maternity Services Liaison Committees (MSLCs) 
are funded, noting that there is no longer mandatory funding from CCGs which may impact on 
women’s opportunities to use their experiences to inform decisions and service 
improvements. 

The HWE findings also highlighted that staff attitudes were often poor ranging from staff 
being rushed and unsupportive to downright rude. Similar to the National Maternity Review, 
the report called for better antenatal and postnatal support around mental health and better 
access to pre-natal care. It also highlighted the importance of infrastructure and environment, 
illustrating how important it is for women to feel as comfortable as possible whilst in waiting 
areas, labour wards and post-natal wards, and their needs for privacy and dignity to be 
respected. 

2c) Maternal health in Tower Hamlets
 
2.7 In 2013 there were 4,800 births in Tower Hamlets7 and numbers have increased since then. 

The birth rate8 in Tower Hamlets is increasing, with approximately 500 extra births per year 
expected by 2024. According to the latest population projections, the anticipated birth rate 
for 2019 has already been exceeded in 2015/16. This is a substantial number and it will be a 
challenge for services to ensure this extra need is met to a sufficient standard. 

2.8 39% of children born or living in Tower Hamlets are in an income deprived family and the 
borough is ranked 24th in deprivation nationally9.Tower Hamlets is no longer one of the 20 
most deprived local authority areas in England10 but this improvement in the rankings is partly 

7 Numbers of births that take place in Tower Hamlets is not the same as numbers of births from local residents as some 
women who give birth at the RLH live in other areas. 
8 See glossary for definition of birth rate and fertility rate
9 DCLG (September 2015), The English Indices of Deprivation 2015, National Statistics, London.  
10 This ranking does vary according to the source measure used. In some indices, Tower Hamlets is ranked as high as 3rd 
most deprived area nationally. It should be noted that changes in rankings reflect relative rather than absolute changes so 
that an improvement does not necessarily mean that deprivation levels have reduced. 



APPENDIX ONE

12

explained by inward migration of a cohort of affluent young professionals so inequality has 
increased over the last five years. Tower Hamlets remains the most deprived district 
nationally in terms of income deprivation of children. 

2.9 A key factor which influences maternal outcomes is the ability of women to speak and read 
English11 12. Those who cannot communicate effectively in English have problems with 
understanding and being understood by health professionals due to the language barrier13.  
Low health literacy also has a negative impact on patient experience in terms of the ability to 
comprehend information relating to pregnancy. In Tower Hamlets, 35% of the local 
population overall do not speak English as their first language. Nationally the level is less than 
10%. 

Figure i): Main language spoken in Tower Hamlets14

11 Public Health use English Language proficiency as an indicator of health literacy. There is evidence that shows being 
unable to speak and read English is likely to impact on health literacy thus affecting patient experience and potentially, 
health outcomes. 
12 Royal College of General Practitioners, “Health Literacy: Report from RCGP workshop” (2014) pg. 2
13 NHS NW London (2008) An independent review of serious untoward incidents and clinical governance systems within 
maternity services at Northwick Park Hospital, pg15. (Report found common factors in the serious incidents including 
communication difficulties due to culture and language). 
14 Corporate Research Unit, LBTH (2013) Research Briefing 2013-02: Language in Tower Hamlets – analysis of 2011 census 
data



APPENDIX ONE

13

2.10 Moreover mothers who recently migrated to the UK often have poorer health literacy 
compared to other groups.  According to the most recent population data, 66% of babies born 
in Tower Hamlets are born to mothers who were born outside the United Kingdom; mainly in 
the Middle East and Asia (43%) and Africa (9%). 

Figure ii) – Birthplace of mothers to babies born in Tower Hamlets (2012)15 

2.11 There are also congenital diseases and conditions which are specific to certain ethnic 
backgrounds, with a high incidence in Tower Hamlets due to its diversity. Moreover, women 
from some communities may be more vulnerable to infection due to lack of Mumps, Measles 
& Rubella (MMR) vaccinations.  

2.12 Diabetes is a significant issue in maternal health and presents risks both to the pregnant 
woman and the developing foetus. Tower Hamlets has a higher than average prevalence rate 
of diabetes. It is also one of five boroughs in London with the highest number of low birth 
weight babies.

2.13 Many mothers in Tower Hamlets are vulnerable, isolated and need more intensive support 
than that which the maternity model alone can provide. 

2d) Maternity services in Tower Hamlets

2.14 The new £650 million Royal London Hospital opened in 2012. Across its two sites (Barkantine 
and RLH) and including home births, there are now approximately 5,300 live births per year in 
Tower Hamlets with the majority of these (over 4,800) being in the main RLH. In line with 
national recommendations there are plans in place to improve awareness of choices, for 
example increasing the numbers of home births. The Barkantine Birth Centre opened in 2007 

15 GLA Intelligence Update 11-2014 (July 2014) Births by birthplace of mother: 2012 ONS data, GLA, London



APPENDIX ONE

14

and is a free standing midwife led unit (MLU) suitable for women defined as ‘low risk’. Around 
400 of the 5,300 births annually in Tower Hamlets happen at the Barkantine. Additionally a 
small number of women give birth at home. Recent data puts this at 2% nationally.16 For 
Tower Hamlets the home birth rate for 2015/16 is 0.9%, an increase from 0.4% in 2014/15. 
This is a total of 50 home births in 2015/16 compared to 24 in 2014/15.

2.15 The RLH deals with the largest proportion of high acuity births in the country and delivers 
excellent clinical outcomes. Stabilised & adjusted neonatal mortality rates for Tower Hamlets 
are more than 10% lower than the national average and stabilised & adjusted extended 
perinatal mortality rates are up to 10% lower than the national average. This is an impressive 
outcome and a significant achievement. 

2.16 The maternity services department at the RLH delivers over 5,000 births a year. It comprises a 
31 bedded delivery suite, 2 obstetric theatres, a recovery area and an obstetric level 2 high 
dependency unit on the 6th floor of the new hospital. There is a 31 bedded postnatal ward on 
the 8th floor which includes a number of babies receiving transitional care. The service is 
supported by a Level 3 neonatal unit with 36 cots of which 19 are Neonatal Intensive Care 
Units (NICU) or High Dependency Units (HDU)17, 10 special care baby units and seven for 
surgical neonatal cases. 

2.17 The Barkantine Birth Centre is a freestanding midwife led unit (MLU) that opened in 2007 and 
is part of the RLH in that a core group of midwives and staff work across both sites. It is based 
within a community health centre on the Isle of Dogs. As it is midwife led there is no obstetric 
service on site, thus it is only an option for women who are assessed as likely to have low risk 
births. Approximately 400 babies are born each year at the Barkantine Centre. However, 
when complications arise that may require clinical intervention; women need to be 
transferred to the RLH. On these occasions, they are accompanied by their midwife who 
where possible will stay with them throughout the birth. 

2.18 In 2014 there were 806 women who were booked to give birth at the Barkantine and of those, 
402 had their babies there. The majority of women who had chosen the Barkantine but had 
their babies elsewhere were admitted to the RLH (46.9%). The Royal London hospital deals 
with some of the most difficult and complicated births in the country. 

2.19 The Trust is due to open a co-located midwifery led unit in summer 2016 to address some of 
the current pressures and increasing demand. This is currently being built and is located on 
the 8th floor of the RLH. The new unit will accommodate up to 1500 low risk births in a ‘home 
from home’ environment and is designed on similar principles to the Barkantine Birth centre 
which has been recognised for offering an outstanding midwifery-led service. It offers an 
advantage in terms of its proximity to the obstetrics unit and it will be easy to transfer 
mothers who need clinical care due to complications. 

2.20 In addition to hospital services and primary care, there are a range of other community based, 
non-medical services to support women through pregnancy, birth and postnatal care. In 
Tower Hamlets there is a ‘doula’18 peer support service to provide additional help to 

16 National Maternity Review (op cit)  
17 See glossary
18 A ‘doula’ is a birth support person or birth companion. It is a non-clinical service intended to supplement medical care. 



APPENDIX ONE

15

vulnerable and isolated mothers called Maternity Mates and the National Childbirth Trust 
(NCT) are active locally in providing information, advice and support to families across the 
whole community. Tower Hamlets has an established, well-regarded and effective MSLC and 
the CCG has demonstrated a long term commitment to supporting the MSLC locally even 
though there is no longer mandatory funding. 

Barts Health Trust quality and performance

2.21 Barts Health Trust has had a number of negative inspection reports in recent years and has 
consistently responded positively with improvement plans to address shortfalls in quality and 
performance. Since having been put into special measures in 2014, Barts Trust is going 
through an extensive change programme in leadership and culture. BHT is working towards 
coming out of special measures by the end of 2016/17. To do this BHT recognises that it must 
go beyond compliance but to aspire towards excellence and improvement. Senior managers 
from the RLH acknowledge that what is needed is a significant cultural shift and this will need 
to be led from the top of the organisation. The Trust is progressing towards this; a new 
leadership team is in place and BHT and the CCG are keen to work collaboratively with others 
to make the desired improvements. 

2.22 In line with recommendations from the National Maternity Review and other reports, BHT has 
plans in place to increase awareness of home births and is aiming to enable more local 
women to give birth at home or in community rather than clinical settings. 

2.23 The CQC inspection carried out in February 2015 rated maternity services at the RLH as 
‘requires improvement’. However the more detailed commentary and ratings against the 
CQC’s five key lines of enquiry (key questions) found that the RLH is rated as ‘good’ against 
three of these; effective, caring and responsive. The rating for whether the service was well 
led ‘required improvement’ and in terms of safety the RLH was rated as ‘inadequate’. The 
lower rating on safety was attributed to a lack of appropriate numbers of doctors and 
midwives. This shortfall in staff numbers was found to have negatively impacted on the 
quality of care received by some patients. The inspection also found that security for the 
maternity unit was a concern as there were high numbers of visitors to inpatient areas and 
electronic security systems were not in use. Barts Health Trust and the Tower Hamlets Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) have put in place a number of action plans and initiatives to 
address these issues. It was noted in the National Maternity Review19 that almost half of CQC 
inspections of maternity services result in ‘inadequate’ or ‘requires improvement’ ratings and 
there is a high degree of national variance. 

2.24 Since the CQC inspection report was published in May 2015, BHT has appointed additional 
midwives to raise the staff ratio to compliance levels and has been funded to enable the 
service to operate at the recommended 1:28 ratio since June 201520. The Trust are 
successfully filling vacancies and many mid-wives and support staff have been in post for 
some time (two or more years) which staff who were spoken to as part of this review felt had 
added to stability across the team.

See glossary for more information. 
19 Op Cit
20 In 2015/16 overall the RLH operated at a ratio of 1:31.2 (BHT dashboard: performance data) which is not yet at the 
compliance level though midwife recruitment is a challenge nationally – see 2.4 in this report



APPENDIX ONE

16

RLH complaints

2.25 Official complaints numbers at the RLH are reported to be reducing slightly over time. The 
RLH has seen an increase in positive feedback and complaints account for roughly half the 
feedback received. On average the RLH receives 7 official complaints per month about 
maternity services.  The Maternity Services Data Set (MSDS) which is compiled nationally does 
not disaggregate data to the level of individual site. However, the latest data available for 
complaints at regional  level21 shows that there are slightly higher rates of complaints about 
maternity services (3.5% of all written complaints received)  in London compared to the rest 
of the country (2.9%). 

2.26 At a national level, and across all community health services, 11.4% of complaints are about 
staff attitude and 10% relate to various communication problems22. The majority of 
complaints that the Royal London maternity unit receives23 are about communication issues 
at around 32%. Other issues include obstetric diagnosis and treatment concerns, appointment 
and clinic issues. There has been a gradual reduction in complaints about staff attitude and 
behaviour which is now below 3% of all correspondence.  Many concerns over care are 
addressed through local resolution and Barts Health Trust has introduced a number of new 
mechanisms to better capture feedback from patients but national evidence from 
Healthwatch England (HWE) and data captured as part of this review suggests that significant 
numbers of people do not complain even if they feel they have grounds to, and some patients 
we spoke to didn’t feel that they knew how to go about raising concerns. 

3. Findings

3.1 The Panel examined various sources of patient experience information ranging from direct 
conversations with patients and family members on the site visits to feedback from patient 
organisations and the RLH along with reports and presentations from key organisations 
involved in capturing patient experience insight. Whilst some sources were likely to be more 
representative than others, some key themes came through strongly.  The MSLC24 for 
example, highlighted poor communication and rushed appointments, lack of information, lack 
of support during labour and lack of compassion as the key areas of inquiry. 

3.2 In presenting and summarising the findings of this review it is important to stress that the 
Panel heard about a number of positive experiences from the RLH, particularly that new 
midwives and student midwives were considered ‘lovely’ by patients. It is worth noting that 
there is a notice board in the corridor of the RLH maternity unit which is covered with thank 
you cards from patients and their families. This illustrates the extent to which many women 
value the service at the RLH. 

21 HSCIC (April 2015) Compendium of Maternity Statistics 2013-14. 
22 HSCIC (2015) MSDS national summary statistics 2014 - 15
23 Site specific data not available from published statistics – this information comes from internal BHT report submitted 
as evidence for this review
24 SAFH, (2015) MSLC presentation to Health Scrutiny Panel, 17th December 2015



APPENDIX ONE

17

Figure iii) Notice board at RLH

3.3 The review evidence also included several detailed accounts from mothers who had had 
difficult births or who had babies who were born seriously unwell and praise for the 
emergency care teams was widespread. Some women who had previously given birth at the 
RLH noted improvements since their earlier time there. 

“In general I’ve found my care at the [Royal] London [Hospital] to be excellent, just 
overstretched at times” (NCT survey respondent) 

3.4 Many women who are defined as “high risk” and have complicated deliveries experience 
excellent care with the emergency care teams being particularly singled out for praise by 
patients. There are also examples of staff ‘going the extra mile’, for example midwives staying 
with patients beyond the end of their shifts to provide reassurance and care throughout a 
protracted labour and delivery. 

“The sisters on this team who cared for me as well as the anaesthetist, doctors and other 
staff were really amazing, truly caring and I feel so lucky to have met them and [that they] 
delivered my baby even though he was two weeks overdue, very large and it was done with 
forceps” (Patient feedback from HWTH report) 



APPENDIX ONE

18

3a) Differences between the Royal London Hospital and the Barkantine Birth Centre

3.5 In terms of scale, design, service model and patient experience the Barkantine Centre is very 
different to the main RLH site. The Barkantine is consistently rated as ‘outstanding’ by 
patients whereas feedback from the main RLH site, where the majority of births take place in 
Tower Hamlets is more mixed. There are a number of reasons for this variance. As reported 
previously, the Barkantine is on a much smaller scale than the main RLH and is designed only 
for ‘straightforward’ births. The environment is generally less busy, and it is designed to be 
‘home-like’. 

3.6 The National Childbirth Trust25 (NCT) points out that those women who give birth in midwife 
led units (MLUs) are more likely to be cared for by the same midwife that they built a rapport 
with over the course of their pregnancy. The surroundings are relaxed and more private 
compared to a busy hospital ward. Women who give birth at a MLU are also more likely to be 
able to stay in the same room throughout their labour and postnatal care.  As a freestanding 
MLU, the Barkantine has no medical facilities onsite so, for example women would not be 
able to get an epidural at the Barkantine should they need additional pain relief. 

3.7 A number of women do start their labour at the Barkantine and have to transfer to the RLH 
due to complications. For example, in 2014, 71% of women who commenced labour at the 
Barkantine remained there through birth and postnatal care stages. Of those who transferred, 
the majority went to the RLH. 17.6% were transferred during labour (intrapartum26 stage) and 
11.3 % were admitted to the RLH after birth due to complications 27. Woman who are 
assessed as ‘low risk’ are eligible to use the Barkantine. Somewhat surprisingly demand for 
the service is manageable as many women prefer to give birth in hospital. Barkantine staff 
members who were consulted on the site visit said that whilst around 1,400 local women 
could potentially give birth there each year, only half actually choose to do so. Nationally, 94% 
of births take place in hospitals. National data is not available for where women would prefer 
to give birth, but a recent survey of pregnant women in Cumbria28  found that 69% stated 
their birthplace of preference would be a hospital and only 5% opted for a freestanding MLU 
though this could be partially explained by the fact that Cumbria is very rural and it can take a 
long time to travel to the nearest maternity hospital from some areas. The Panel found that a 
direct comparison between the Barkantine and the RLH is not feasible or indeed particularly 
useful given the differences in scale between the two facilities. Neither should it be assumed 
that the majority of good experiences happen at the Barkantine. 

3.8 It is also evident that the hospital are listening to patient concerns and taking these on board; 
for example the plans for the new co-located low risk unit on the 8th floor were influenced 
largely by the MSLC. Senior managers who were spoken to by Panel members on the site 
visits said that briefings on patient feedback were regularly produced and shared with staff on 
the wards. 

25 NCT website https://www.nct.org.uk/birth/giving-birth-midwife-led-unit-or-birth-centre
26 See glossary
27 Barts Health Trust (2015) Barkantine Birth Centre (BBC)  stats 2014 
28 HW Cumbria & MSLC (2016) Maternity Matters: What does great maternity care look like? Pg. 15

https://www.nct.org.uk/birth/giving-birth-midwife-led-unit-or-birth-centre


APPENDIX ONE

19

3b) Compassionate care 

3.9 Compassion is one of the most important themes covered by this review, focusing as it does 
on patient experience. The National Maternity Review and other reports found compassion to 
be one of the key determinants of the quality of patient experience. Compassion can mean 
many things, but simply put it involves kindness, trust, empathy, taking time to listen and 
understand. 

3.10 The Panel found examples across all of the evidence sources where care neither met the 
hospital’s desired standards of compassion or empathy, nor patient expectations. The findings 
that the MSLC reported were thematically grouped around four main themes; poor 
communication and rushed appointments throughout the patient journey (antenatal, labour, 
postnatal), lack of information throughout the patient journey, lack of support during labour 
and finally, lack of compassion in the postnatal ward.

3.11 In their presentation, The National Childbirth Trust (NCT) stated that care is compassionate 
when patients feel that health professionals trust them, that women are treated as individuals 
and when small things happen which show that staff recognise how life-changing pregnancy 
and birth can be. Conversely care lacks compassion when women are treated as ‘stupid’ or 
not trusted, when pregnancy and births are seen as medical rather than life events and when 
women are treated as ‘yet another pregnant woman’ on a conveyor belt. 

“Small things make a big difference. This is first baby, I hadn’t anticipated such a traumatic 
birth with emergency c-section, and of course I’m overjoyed to have a healthy baby who is 
starting to gain weight. Just simple changes in tone of voice, for staff to speak more softly 
and be reassuring [like saying] “we know this is new to you” and show empathy. Recognise 
they are busy but this shouldn’t be so hard.” (Patient feedback to Panel member, RLH site 
visit, February 2016) 

“One (BME) woman was worried about the colour of her breast milk. She asked a member 
of staff about it who responded “It doesn’t have to be white. We are not all cows.” Whilst 
this may have been intended as a humorous and reassuring comment, the mum in question 
was really upset”. (Patient feedback to Panel members on RLH site visit, February 2016) 

“The night-time staff are not as good as the daytime staff. They can be rude and often don’t 
respond to my requests” (HWTH patient feedback) 

3.12 The Royal College of Midwives’ recent report on the state of maternity services nationally 
found that when staffing levels are inadequate, patient care suffers. In the past, the RLH did 
not meet the staffing ratio for midwives and clinical staff. It has also been noted in the CQC 
inspection and internal improvement plans make reference to the need for better staff 
numbers. New midwives have now been recruited and since June 2015 the RLH has reached 
the recommended 1:28 funded ratio of midwives to patients, so it is reasonable to infer 
patient experience should now be showing signs of improvement. 

3.13 However, the current picture appears to be mixed. Whilst it is difficult to quantify, a 
significant number of mothers are still reporting poor experiences at the RLH; this came 
through the Panel’s site visits and conversations - albeit these gave a ‘snapshot’ rather than a 



APPENDIX ONE

20

fully representative view – as well as the presentations and reports from organisations 
involved in capturing insight from patient experience. The group of people who had poor 
experiences would appear to include a higher proportion of mothers who do not speak 
English as a first language though we do not have sufficient evidence as part of this review to 
assess the specific extent of poor patient care amongst those who are not English speakers. 

Recommendation 1: That Barts Health Trust explores how it can further implement good 
practice on offering compassionate care, particularly for women who have had traumatic births 
and those who do not speak English as their first language. 

3.14 These findings about the culture of care and how it impacts on patient experience suggest 
two things. Firstly that adequate staffing numbers or resources alone will not necessarily 
improve patient experience. Secondly that, given the diversity of patients and the fact that 
many women do not speak English as their first language, BHT needs to do more to ensure 
that the workforce better represents the diverse community it serves.  Actively recruiting staff 
from similar backgrounds to many of the patients with the ability to speak other community 
languages would be a way to address this. A sense of shared cultural experience and 
background, as well as ability to communicate in the same language should help to improve 
compassionate care.  As stated in the introduction to this report, the ability to speak and read 
English is a key factor that influences the quality of patient experience, and 35% of 
households in the borough do not speak English at home29. 

Recommendation 2: That Barts Health Trust reviews its midwife recruitment strategy to ensure 
that it strengthens its approach to increasing the diversity of staff to reflect the characteristics 
of the local population. 

3.15 The evidence that the Panel examined and heard differs in some respects from key findings 
from regulatory inspections. The Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection, whilst giving an 
overall ‘requires improvement’ rating to maternity services at the RLH did rate the service as 
‘good’ against three of its five lines of enquiry; effective, caring and responsive. This is 
interesting considering that much of the evidence from patient experience that the Panel 
examined found that compassionate care was often lacking.  As noted earlier in this report, 
the CQC inspection found the service to treat patients with kindness, compassion, dignity and 
respect. 

3.16 The CQC inspection of Maternity Services was performed by a dedicated team of inspectors in 
January 2015. The inspection was thorough and took place over a 24/7 period for 48 hours. It 
also included a number of unannounced visits over a full week during the period of the review 
where a high number of women and staff were interviewed. The review report stated that the 
Friends and Family Test (FFT)30 is a major source that inspectors use to measure patient 
experience and that there were very few responses from people who had used maternity 
services at the RLH. In light of this a number of other sources of patient feedback were used 
including in-patient surveys. CQC inspections all involve a review of performance literature 
but inevitably the methodology used is ‘broad brush’. The inspectors noted that bereaved 

29 ONS census 2011
30 See glossary



APPENDIX ONE

21

families were treated sensitively at the hospital31, that staff attitude to patients had improved 
since the 2013 National Maternity Survey and they observed staff being kind and 
compassionate to patients. However, the report also highlighted a number of less positive 
observations such as lack of capacity on the wards leading to compromised dignity in some 
cases were women had to share postnatal rooms. It also noted patient frustrations around 
shift changes and waiting times but these factors did not detract from the overall rating. 

Great Expectations Programme

3.17 In response to concerns about compassionate care, BHT introduced a cultural awareness 
programme for staff called ‘Great Expectations’. This was designed to provide training and 
development around the “6 c’s” – caring, compassionate, competent, communicative, 
courageous and committed. The project started in 2014 and a progress report is produced bi-
annually. The latest report32 outlines some improvements; particularly that patient complaints 
about staff attitude have decreased and that most staff agree that ‘Duty of Candour’ 33is 
embedded in the service as openness and transparency are encouraged. However, these 
improvements when looked at in relation to the overall review evidence do not appear to 
have translated into a step change in patient experience.  

3.18 The CCG in their evidence from the first review meeting said that they felt that the Great 
Expectations programme had made positive progress but there was still some way to go for it 
to deliver the desired level of improvement. The BHT results to the latest National Maternity 
Survey34 for example, have not shown a significant increase in patients feeling that they are 
treated with kindness and understanding. 47% of the 325 respondents stated that this had 
not been the case for them35. 

3.19 The review findings, particularly in regard to compassion and culture of care suggest that 
there is a disconnect between what the Panel heard, albeit a ‘snapshot’ from a small sample 
of people, and what managers, staff and indeed CQC inspectors perceive as the day to day 
reality of the service. The panel’s general recommendation is therefore that something needs 
to be done to bridge this perception gap. A key question that has underpinned this review is 
what can the RLH do to give the Health Scrutiny Panel assurance that the extensive 
improvement plans that have been outlined over the course of the review will really deliver 
the desired outcomes for patients?  

3.20 As a way to resolve the above issue and ‘bridge the gap’ the Panel is proposing that a 6 – 12 
month independent study is commissioned following the opening of the new co-located unit 
at the RLH to look in depth at patient experiences over time. 

Recommendation 3: That Barts Health Trust carries out a 6-12 months in depth study focused 
on patient experience following the opening of the new co-located unit in August to provide 
deeper insight and assurance around improvement plans that are being implemented.  

31 Care Quality Commission (May 2015), Royal London Hospital Quality Report, pp 81-82
32 Barts Health NHS Trust, (November 2015), Report on the Great Expectations Project
33 See glossary
34 Picker Institute (Dec 2015) National Maternity Survey: Barts NHS Health Trust 
35 The results are for the whole of BHT not just RLH sites



APPENDIX ONE

22

Cultural differences in patient experience

3.21 Whilst BHT does collect data on ethnicity and other factors, currently this data has not been 
published widely or analysed alongside other factors such as long term conditions. Therefore 
it is difficult to say with confidence that some specific groups are likely to experience better 
care than others. Nonetheless, given the qualitative evidence that was submitted for this 
review from a range of sources, the Panel felt it was important for measures to be taken to 
ensure a better experience for mothers for whom English was not their first language.  

Recommendation 4: That Barts Health Trust develops options to ensure that there is sufficient 
time dedicated for a range of staff to provide information to patients, particularly for women 
who do not speak English as a first language.

3.22 The National Maternity Review36 included a section on cultural differences and diversity which 
noted the following: 

 More time needs to be allocated to antenatal and postnatal appointments so mothers and 
partners can process information understand the choices available to them and be 
informed about next steps. Linked to this there needs to be more engagement and 
outreach from providers to local communities

 Information should be available in a range of accessible formats and community 
languages. Interpreters should be available if needed.

 Midwives, doctors, support staff should never make assumptions about people’s choices 
based on cultural stereotypes, they should always ask.

 Specialist outreach services need to be available to the most vulnerable mothers
 Younger mothers more often feel that they are not listened to or trusted than older 

mothers. They particularly called for more postnatal support and for their decisions to be 
respected. 

Recommendation 5: That Barts Health Trust ensures that it incorporates the findings and 
recommendations from the National Maternity Review in terms of how it tailors support to 
women who do not read and speak English.

Maternity Mates

3.23 The Maternity Mates service is commissioned by the CCG to support women from various 
backgrounds and/or with complex needs.37 Maternity Mates is a doula service38 that has been 
operating since 2013. Maternity Mates are volunteers from the local community who receive 
accredited training and work alongside midwives and health professionals to make sure that 
mothers can understand issues and decisions affecting their care. They provide emotional and 

36 Op Cit, 
37 Presentation from WHFS, HSP Review Meeting, 17/12/16
38 A doula is an additional support service for mothers – see glossary



APPENDIX ONE

23

practical support before, during and after the baby is born. The service was set up in 
recognition that many local women can be vulnerable and isolated, or have more support 
needs than the ‘medical model’ of maternity care can address. The Panel heard that the 
service has proved particularly helpful for women who are new to the UK and may not have 
family or a support network nearby. Though the project has been at a small scale to date, by 
March 2015, 31 local women had been trained as Maternity Mates and 71 mums had been 
supported. 95% of the women who had received the service reported positive outcomes and 
the majority of trained Maternity Mates said the training had improved their confidence in 
terms of going on to paid employment. Some were considering further professional training 
as midwives or health professionals. The service was valued by RLH staff who saw it as 
offering continuity of care and additional support that midwives cannot always provide. 
Nonetheless, it is a resource intensive service and the CCG is evaluating it with a view to 
providing a comprehensive analysis of its effectiveness and sustainability. WHFS have recently 
been awarded a Big Lottery Fund grant of £448,330 to expand the Maternity Mates service in 
East London over the next three years39. 

3.24 The Panel recognised the long term potential of the Maternity Mates service in terms of 
trained volunteers going on to become midwives and nurses and thus the BHT workforce 
becoming more representative of the local community. BHT have noted the impact that the 
service has had to date, and are keen that it expands to support more women. A second 
phase “Maternity Mates + “ service, working not just on antenatal care but working alongside 
midwives on wards and in the community post birth could be a valuable addition to local 
service provision and expanding the service would help to promote midwifery as a career 
option for local women who may not have considered it previously due to cultural barriers.  
The Panel felt that it would be useful to expand the service to include more outreach work 
and involvement from minority groups. For example, Tower Hamlets has the 9th highest 
proportion of Somali residents nationally40, but the council’s recent Somali task force project 
highlighted that this community is particularly hard to reach in health improvement initiatives 
generally. 

Recommendation 6: That subject to the findings of an evaluation of the Maternity Mates 
service; Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group and Barts Health Trust work to further 
develop and strengthen the Maternity Mates service to expand its role working with midwives 
and local women in hospital settings and the wider community. This should include working 
with a diverse range of local women both as service users and Maternity Mates with a 
particular focus on minority groups such as the Somali community. 

Cultural change

3.25 The National Maternity Review highlights the vital role of leadership in setting the right 
culture for compassionate care. Cultural change will only happen if it is led from the top of the 

39 WHFS press release,  Big Lottery Fund grants £448,330 to Tower Hamlets project supporting vulnerable women during 
pregnancy , 10/5/2016
40 LBTH (March 2016) Profiling the Somali-born community: Update report for Somali task force (Source data – 2011 
census, ONS) 



APPENDIX ONE

24

organisation. The Panel found that leadership at Trust level is key to getting the 
transformation required. Previous review reports over the years have raised similar concerns 
to those that are covered in this review, however the necessary pace of change has not been 
realised. Given the major changes to the leadership at BHT the Panel are more confident that 
the step change that is required to get the right culture in place is likely to happen over the 
next few years. One of the outcomes of this review is to present the findings at a high level 
meeting with the CEO of the Trust who has indicated she will lead on ensuring that the 
recommended improvement plans are in place and monitored. 

3c) Consistency and continuity of care

3.26 Continuity of care is one of the key recommendations from the National Maternity Review. It 
found a culture of “silo working” and a “lack of respect” between midwives, obstetricians and 
other healthcare professionals in trusts across England. The review found problems with 
communication, handovers and disagreements about how to handle situations, such as the 
transition to specialist care. The need for better working relationships between staff groups – 
including with health visitors, nurses, neonatologists, GPs, paediatricians and anaesthetists – 
was highlighted by both midwives and obstetricians who submitted evidence to the review. 
All of these issues can impact on care received by patients. 

3.27 The senior managers, midwives, clinicians and frontline staff who were spoken to as part of 
this review all said that one of the things they value working at the RLH is the strong team-
working ethos. There are clearly mutually respectful and supportive relationships between 
obstetricians and midwives. However, the review evidence highlighted a few problems and 
inconsistencies. For example, there were reported incidents where ward coordinators had 
been rude to midwives and clinicians. 

3.28 Patient experience feedback drawn from the various review sources (Healthwatch TH, MSLC, 
and NCT) showed that there were sometimes problems in terms of inconsistent 
communications when shifts change. Some patients felt that night staff were less 
compassionate and caring than the day staff. Patients also reported that they sometimes got 
conflicting information and advice from midwives and doctors which caused confusion. The 
CQC observed a small number of frustrations from patients having to explain their case 
repeatedly to different staff members during their inspection in February 2015. 

“The midwife and doctor give inconsistent advice on health problems; findings from 
examination, reasons for taking medication” (HWTH evidence) 

“I got very fed up with having to explain what happened every time someone new came or 
shifts change.” (Patient feedback, RLH site visit) 

“I was in a lot of pain and the consultant said I could have an epidural but I would have to 
agree straight away as [consultant] was going off duty in 15 minutes. An epidural is a big 
decision and you can’t just make a snap judgement purely because shifts are changing” 
(Patient feedback, HSP site visit) 



APPENDIX ONE

25

3.29 The findings from the RLH suggest that handovers between shifts are not always as seamless 
as they should be and there are instances where this leads to inconsistent advice and 
frustration for patients. The fact that a key member of the clinical team is going off duty 
shortly should not impact on the patient. The national maternity review which brought 
together evidence from maternity services across the country found that too often, patients 
do not experience continuity of care and have to repeatedly explain their circumstances41 to 
different staff members. 

Recommendation 7: That Barts Health Trust regularly reviews the process for conducting 
handovers between shifts to ensure that this process is as seamless as possible for staff and 
patients.  

3d) Communication: information, choice and control

3.30 Communication is consistently a main factor which determines the quality of patient 
experience. Problems with communications are now the most frequently cited reason for 
official complaints from patients in maternity services at the RLH42. A number of patients the 
Panel spoke to as well as evidence from the review presentations highlighted that patients did 
not always feel they were able to make informed choices about their care. Whilst this was an 
issue for women across different cultural backgrounds it was a particular challenge for those 
who do not speak English as a first language.  

“I am very confused now. Every time I come here….. they don’t share diagnosis with me” 
(HWTH patient feedback) 

“At the end of my pregnancy my baby showed no sign of arriving. I spoke to a midwife and 
turned down induction. She…..made me feel like I’d made a terrible decision and put my 
baby at risk.” [Baby eventually showed up and was fine with no medical intervention]” (NCT 
survey respondent)

“It would be better if staff informed you of the progress of the labour and what will happen 
next” (Patient feedback, NHS Choices, 26th February 2016) 

3.31 The national review of maternity services called for patients to be enabled to make informed 
choices at all times about their care and for their decisions to be trusted and respected by 
midwives and clinical staff. Clearly there are situations when critical decisions have to be 
made and patients should feel confident and able to trust the staff to be acting in their best 
interests. 

3.32 The most recent National Maternity Survey data for the RLH shows that nearly half of survey 
respondents (44%) said they were not involved in decisions about their care.43 The RLH has 
prioritised involvement in decisions as a key priority for 2016/17. 

41 Asking patients their name and details is a way that hospital staff check that case notes are correct
42 Barts NHS Trust, (Feb 2016)  Report to CQRM RLH (op cit) 
43 Barts Health NHS Trust, Report to CQRM Royal London Hospital (February 2016) 



APPENDIX ONE

26

3.33 Giving birth is never without risk and a few patients we spoke to felt that their experience 
would have been better had they been forewarned about any potential problems and their 
choices in the event of complications. The RLH has recently produced a whole new suite of 
patient information materials and these should be helpful in addressing the demand for 
better quality information. There is also a need to ensure that this information is accessible 
and understandable for the diverse population. To this end, the RLH are working with the 
MSLC to check the new materials in terms of ease of understanding and accessibility. 

Recommendation 8: That Barts Health Trust reviews the information provided as part of 
antenatal and postnatal care and works with patient groups (Maternity Services Liaison 
Committee, Healthwatch Tower Hamlets,  National Childbirth Trust) and local residents to 
ensure information is accessible, appropriate and meets local needs.
 

3e) Women’s involvement in planning and monitoring services

3.34 The MSLC is one of the main mechanisms whereby women’s views are collated and fed back 
to the RLH to inform service improvement plans. The MSLC model is based on supporting 
women to shape and influence their local maternity services with an emphasis on reaching 
out to those who are seldom heard. The MSLC has demonstrated its impact in a number of 
ways including the idea for the Great Expectations project to improve staff attitudes (See 
section on compassionate care). Significantly it was an MSLC petition that sparked the plan for 
a co-located birth centre at the new RLH which is due to open in July 2016. The MSLC found 
that many women were keen to have clinical care close by and this is a barrier to some people 
choosing to give birth at the Barkantine. 

“I don’t want to use the Barkantine birth centre as there are no doctors available.”  (MSLC 
patient feedback) 

3.35 In terms of monitoring services, the MSLC have also set up a project called mum2mums check 
which involves MSLC volunteer mums visiting maternity wards and speaking to patients in 
their own language to gather feedback which is then reported back to BHT. This has been 
found to work well as it enables local women to give their views confidentially and 
independently to peers who are not NHS staff, thus tackling some of the barriers that can 
deter people from giving their feedback. (This issue is covered in more detail in the section on 
patient feedback.)  

3.36 The MSLC are involved in an ongoing dialogue with BHT and are regularly consulted on 
improvement plans, for example the issue on partners paying to stay overnight at the RLH.  
The MSLC meet with BHT on a quarterly basis and the NCT are represented at the meetings. 

Recommendation 9: That the Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group continues to fund, 
support and strengthen the Maternity Services Liaison Committee as a key mechanism for 
involving local women in shaping the future of maternity services in the borough. 

3f) Capacity, organisation and administration



APPENDIX ONE

27

3.37 This review along with the CQC inspection report has highlighted some ongoing concerns with 
resources, capacity and organisation. Problems were particularly reported around waiting 
times in prenatal triage ward. In postnatal areas single rooms were sometimes occupied by 
two people because of capacity issues but this compromised dignity and privacy. Staff who 
were consulted in this review recognised this was an issue. 

3.38 The CQC inspection report noted the pressures on capacity in certain areas of the maternity 
unit at the RLH. The new co-located low risk facility on the 8th floor should in many ways help 
to alleviate the pressures and improvements in staff numbers should also have a positive 
impact. However, there are a number of additional areas that should be looked at. For 
example, the National Maternity Review noted that a higher proportion of staff time across 
the country was found to be allocated to collecting data and administrative work, though the 
quality of data is generally poor and it is paper based rather than electronic. The strong feeling 
from both staff and patients who took part in the national research felt that the 
administrative and data burden was detrimental to the quality of patient care. 

Hospital discharge planning

3.39 Patient evidence from the various sources examined as part of the review mentioned 
discharge planning as an area that could be improved. A number of patients said they were 
not informed until the last minute that they were to be discharged, which meant they had 
been unable to plan for partners to come and collect them or make arrangements to look 
after other children at home. Conversely, some patients were told they were going to be 
discharged and got ready but were delayed for a number of administrative reasons.

“I am a bit upset they didn’t tell me they will discharge me this morning and my husband 
didn’t bring anything for me…..just two hours ago they told me to get ready” (MSLC patient 
feedback) 

“I was advised that I can leave as soon as my discharge notes are completed. I waited until 
9pm and I was told the notes will not be completed until the following day.” (MSLC patient 
feedback) 

3.40 A third issue with discharge was the time taken to explain discharge notes and aftercare. This 
is particularly the case for women who do not speak English as their first language. 

“I wasn’t given any advice or reassurance after I had a low birth-weight baby and I was left 
concerned” (MSLC feedback from European woman, Feb 2015, RLH) 

“I had a very traumatic birth ……I had a rare condition which I have since researched on the 
internet. When my GP read my discharge notes he was at a loss about my diagnosis and 
how he or other health professionals could help prevent a similar thing happening should I 
decide to have another baby.” (Patient feedback, HWTH, East European woman)

Recommendation 10: That Barts Health Trust strengthens its discharge planning with patients 
and ensures that adequate time is taken for patients to understand the information provided 



APPENDIX ONE

28

and that it reflects their needs and choices. This is particularly the case for women who do not 
speak English as a first language.

Resource allocation and design

3.41 Staff at both sites highlighted one of the key differences between the Barkantine and the RLH 
was that staff are more rushed at the RLH and it can often take some time to find equipment 
and resources they need, this means they have less time to spend with patients. 

3.42 Midwives that were spoken to as part of the review mentioned that the sheer scale of the 
maternity unit at the RLH meant that sometimes resources were difficult to access even 
though there is an equipment store and a resource allocation system. Some staff felt they 
spent a lot of time ‘running around’ to find things which meant they had less time to devote 
to patient care. Patients often appreciated the pressures on staff and patient feedback from 
across the evidence sources in the review mentioned how rushed and stretched that staff 
were. 

Recommendation 11: That Barts Health Trust reviews its resource allocation systems to enable 
staff to have more time to spend with patients.

3.43 A frustration expressed by staff was that neither they nor patients had been involved in the 
design specification for the new hospital. They felt there were some current problems that 
could have been avoided had their expertise been sought in the design stage. For example 
small pantry areas dispersed throughout the maternity wards would mean patients could 
more easily get a hot drink, thus they wouldn’t have to rely on staff to do this for them. 
Patients who had experienced complicated deliveries told the Panel that it was difficult for 
them to get up and move around, so facilities for getting drinking water or to make hot drinks 
were not accessible and they often had to rely on family members.  The toilets were thought 
to be too far from the High Dependency Unit; and there is no staff toilet near this area which 
can be a particular issue. Whilst it is too late to ‘retrofit’ the new hospital on principles 
informed by the staff and patients who use a facility, as a general principle BHT should engage 
frontline and clinical staff as well as patient groups in the design stage of new or improved 
wards or facilities. 44

Recommendation 12: That Barts Health Trust builds on its work to engage staff groups and 
patient organisations in plans for designing wards and waiting areas. 

Recommendation 13: That Barts Health Trust develops a ‘listening in action’ programme so 
that midwives and ward staff can share practice with managers and learning is cascaded ‘up’ 
the management chain.

3.44 Whilst the RLH is now resourced at the recommended staff ratio for midwives (1:28) and a 
new obstetrician has recently been recruited to add to the clinical team, there is still the issue 
of rising demand. The CQC inspection report notes that capacity at the new RLH is already 

44 Op cit



APPENDIX ONE

29

stretched since opening in 2012. The inspection report notes that the birth rate in Tower 
Hamlets is increasing at a rate of 2% per year. The new co-located unit will alleviate some of 
these pressures, but it is important that the RLH is able to ensure that its staff capacity and 
resource levels can meet ever increasing demand. Some managers that were consulted felt 
that the model for making business cases for more staff was flawed as it does not prioritise 
projected demand as much as current and recent performance evidence.  

Recommendation 14: That Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group and Barts Health Trust 
review the demand modelling process to ensure they can better understand future demand 
and enable Barts Health Trust to ensure sufficient resources can be allocated more swiftly to 
meet peaks in demand. 

3g) Patient experience:  feedback and complaints

3.45 The Panel has found that there are a number of problems which affect the extent to which the 
findings can be said to be truly representative. Previous sections of the report have 
highlighted a disconnect between the views of different stakeholders and the evidence 
presented based on patient experience as part of this review. This section looks at how the 
method and mechanism designed to capture patient feedback can affect the overall results 
and the extent to which patients are confident and willing to share their views. 

3.46 The Panel heard from a number of people and evidence at the review meetings that patients 
did not feel that their views were sought about their experiences and there are a number of 
factors which mean people do not necessarily give feedback even if they feel they want to. 
The national maternity survey and the Friends and Family Test (FFT)45 have a comparatively 
low response rate, so it is difficult to assess whether the views heard as part of this review 
were entirely representative. 

“I would happily have filled in [Friends and Family Test questionnaire] but never received 
one!” (Patient feedback, NHS Choices) 

3.47 Healthwatch England national research highlights that more than half of women want to give 
feedback on maternity services and to contribute to service improvements but 70% do not 
know how. Clearly this is not just an issue for the RLH or indeed BHT, but one of the obstacles 
which make it difficult to give an accurate assessment of overall patient experience at the 
RLH. 

“I’m really glad you are collecting feedback; I always meant to complain or report my 
experience because I felt it was important that other women didn’t have to go through the 
same stuff but somehow life (and a baby of course) got in the way…..” (NCT survey 
respondent)

3.48 Accepting there are limitations with data as outlined in the introduction to this report, the 
National Maternity Survey46 is the largest, quality assured survey designed to capture patient 

45 Patient feedback mechanism introduced by NHS England in 2013. See Glossary
46 Picker Institute, National Maternity Survey – trust level results, December 2015



APPENDIX ONE

30

experience data around maternity services. Therefore it is useful as a baseline for comparing 
the other evidence examined in this review. The survey is commissioned by the CQC and 
carried out annually at the same time of year to enable trends analysis. It should be 
recognised that the response rate was low for BHT (30%) compared to 41% nationally. The 
high number of women who cannot speak or read English across BHT hospital sites may 
partially explain the low response rate locally. The results are not disaggregated to site level47, 
but Trust level data for BHT shows consistently poorer results compared to other areas. The 
survey found that BHT’s results were worse than expected in 74% of all the questions. Some 
of the biggest disparities between the results at BHT and national averages are shown in the 
table below:

Figure iv) Key results from National Maternity Survey (Picker Institute) 

Question BHT 
average

National 
Average

Difference

Labour and birth: concerns not taken seriously 29% 19% -10%
Labour and birth: Not treated with respect and 
dignity

27% 14% -13%

Labour and birth: Not always able to get help by a 
member of staff within a reasonable time

37% 21% -16%

Labour and Birth: Did not have confidence and 
trust in staff

37% 21% -16%

Postnatal Hospital Care: Not treated with 
kindness and understanding

47% 31% -16%

Postnatal Hospital Care: patient not having 
anyone close by to stay as long as they wanted

59% 44% -15%

3.49 One of BHT’s key objectives is to “maintain a relentless focus on delivering high quality, safe 
and compassionate care for women, babies and families and meeting quality priorities to 
ensure a consistently good patient experience.”  The results reported above taken together 
with the evidence that has informed this review suggest that there is still some way to go 
before this is a reality for everyone who gives birth at the RLH. 

3.50 The National Maternity Survey results for BHT have seen some small improvements compared 
to the previous survey (2013) for example performance in terms of choice of where to give 
birth, and getting appropriate advice from the midwife have both got better. 

3.51 BHT has developed an improvement plan for 2016/17 based on the disappointing National 
Maternity Services results to address key issues. The plan includes actions to improve time 
allocated to appointments and to ensure that midwives listen and understand patient 
concerns. BHT is also reviewing care planning to enable women to make informed decisions 
about their care and is producing a new postnatal care information pack which will clearly 
state expected standards of care. Whilst all these initiatives are to be welcomed they need to 
be assessed in terms of the improvement that they are making to patient experience. 

47 The BHT data includes Newham hospital and Whipps Cross as well as the RLH



APPENDIX ONE

31

Recommendation 15: That Barts Health Trust improves the way that data on patient 
experience is collated and finds a way of bringing together data from various sources that can 
be analysed at a sufficient level of granularity, for example ethnicity, age group and site 
specific. 

3.52 In spite of the caveats with the patient experience data that have been noted, it is clear from 
available evidence that patient experience of maternity services in the BHT hospitals overall 
(including the RLH) has been consistently poorer than peer organisations. The national survey 
results corroborate with the various sources of evidence that formed part of this review. For 
example, between July 2014 and December 2015, HWTH compiled a report based on 84 
comments they had received and sentiment analysis showed that 26 of these were broadly 
positive, 42 negative and a further 16 that were mixed or neutral.

3.53 Senior managers from BHT who took part in this review and presented evidence stressed that 
it is vital that they receive as much feedback about patient experience as possible. To this end, 
BHT have recently launched ‘iwantgreatcare48’; an online portal designed to capture feedback 
from patients and bring together patient experience evidence from other sources to build a  
more accurate and representative, current picture of patient experience. 

Recommendation 16: That Barts Health Trust strengthens how it is using patient feedback 
(good and bad) and to demonstrate to patient representative groups how this feeds into 
improvement plans. 

 
3.54 Previous sections of this report have noted a ‘perception gap’ or ‘disconnect’ between the 

views of managers and staff and the evidence of patient experience that has been examined 
in this review. One key part of addressing this gap is improving the quality of data on patient 
experiences and making the process for capturing data as simple and accessible as possible. 
Existing methods have their limitations and often there is a considerable time lag between the 
time a person was in hospital and when they are asked to give their views which can impact 
on both response rates and the way evidence is reported. 

3.55 What is needed is an effective, simple, intuitive patient centred way to capture feedback, both 
positive and negative at or near the critical time; while the mother is in hospital or shortly 
afterwards. Equally in order to encourage honest feedback, patients must not feel reluctant to 
speak about their treatment or worry that complaining may have a negative impact on their 
future care. The hospital, working with MSLC and HWTH should look at how it can optimise 
availability of a ‘safe space’ to give feedback. It has already introduced a Birth Reflections 
Service allowing mothers to come back and discuss their experience with a consultant 
midwife, but it is too early to assess the impact of this. The Mums2Mums project run by the 
MSLC draws on the expertise of the local community to undertake peer review of the service 
and thus overcomes some of the barriers around language and culture that have been 
highlighted in this review, so it is important that learning from this initiative is built into the 
improved system for gathering patient insight. 

48 http://www.iwgc.org/ this is an independent web based resource similar to ‘Trip Advisor’ and used by a number of 
health trusts nationally though not all. 

http://www.iwgc.org/


APPENDIX ONE

32

3.56 The National Maternity Review reported that many women across different age groups and 
cultural backgrounds across the country felt that the 6 week postnatal check that is offered 
with a General Practitioner (GP) as standard is inadequate. They highlighted the need for 
someone to talk to around mental health, depression, support for breastfeeding and more 
aftercare where births have been traumatic. Public Health have offered to explore how the 
mandatory 6-8 week health visitor check could incorporate recording patient feedback and 
HWTH have been invited to advise on how this might be achieved.  

Recommendation 17: That Barts Health Trust works with patient representative groups and 
forums to develop easily accessible, timely and intuitive ways to give feedback. Linked to this 
that Public Health review how the new birth visit (and 6-8 weeks check) could provide an 
opportunity to better capture patient experience feedback and to develop a process to feed 
this information back to Barts Health Trust.   

4. Conclusion

4.1 This review has shown that it is difficult to pull together an entirely accurate and 
representative picture of patient experience at the Royal London Hospital. However, the 
evidence from all sources that this review has examined suggests that there is some way to 
travel before patient experiences reach the standard that should be expected for everyone. It 
is apparent that the Royal London Hospital achieves excellent clinical outcomes demonstrated 
by the results of the MBRACE report in both 2013/14 and again in 2014/15, which is a 
commendable and significant achievement given the proportion of very complex births that it 
deals with within an area of high deprivation and increasing birth rates. However, what is 
needed now is a push towards ensuring that patient experience is of an equivalent standard 
for all women who give birth at the RLH. 

4.2 The Panel is satisfied that planned improvements being implemented by BHT are having some 
impact. The new co-located midwife led unit at the RLH planned to open in summer 2016 will 
go some way to alleviating current capacity pressures. Crowded wards and long waiting times 
have sometimes compromised dignity and privacy for patients. It is vital that making patient 
experience better for everyone is a key priority for BHT going forward.  For this to happen, the 
support of leadership at the very highest level of the Trust is necessary. 

4.3 One key theme in this review is the apparent ‘disconnect’ between senior managers and 
frontline staff views of the service provided at the RLH compared to some of the feedback 
which has come through the various sources of patient experience data that have been 
examined for this review. Therefore the Panel has recommended that a long term ‘deep dive’ 
study on patient experience should be conducted when the new co-located maternity unit 
opens at the RLH in summer 2016. Linked to this, the panel also made recommendations for 
improving data collection and reporting. 

4.4 Clearly the hospital and Barts Health Trust are under pressures that are affecting the whole 
NHS across England as well as addressing challenges including difficulties in recruiting a 
workforce that is representative of the local population. 



APPENDIX ONE

33

4.5 The Panel is keen for the council and other partners to work with BHT to address the current 
challenges and ensure that there is high quality maternity care for the increasing numbers of 
women giving birth in the borough now and in the future. 

4.6 To this end the panel is pleased to hear that changes in the leadership and culture at BHT 
mean that senior managers from the Trust are keen to work with the Panel and other 
partners. The Panel welcomes the renewed appetite for joint working from BHT and looks 
forward to working together to improve maternity services for the future. 



APPENDIX ONE

34

APPENDIX A: GLOSSARY

BHT – Barts Health NHS Trust: the Trust is a merger of three previous trusts; Barts and the 
London, Newham Hospital and Whipps Cross. It is one of the largest healthcare organisations in 
Europe and the Royal London Hospital (RLH) in Whitechapel is its largest site. The RLH moved to 
a new site in 2012. The trust employs 15,000 people and is the main provider of health care 
services in Tower Hamlets. 

Birth Rate: Number of live births per thousand of the population annually. 

CCG – Clinical Commissioning Group: Tower Hamlets NHS CCG was formed as part of the 
implementation of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 legislation. Established in April 2013 it is 
a clinically led organisation bringing together all 36 General Practices in the borough. It is 
responsible for commissioning most hospital, community and mental health care services in 
Tower Hamlets. 

Doula: A birth support person or birth companion. The provision of continuous support during 
labour from a doula is associated with improved maternal and fetal health and a variety of 
other benefits, including lower risk of induction and interventions and less need for pain relief. 
Maternity Mates is the local doula service in Tower Hamlets. 

Fertility Rate: Average number of children born to a woman of childbearing age (15 – 49) over 
the course of her lifetime. Replacement fertility rate – where the level of population replicates 
itself from generation to generation is set at 2.1. Human geographers use the Total Fertility 
Rate (TFR) as an indicator of population change over time. 

FFT – Friends and Family Test: A patient feedback tool that was introduced by NHS England in 
2013 to give patients across all NHS funded services the opportunity to feedback about their 
experience. It asks whether the patient would recommend the service to friends and family.

HDU – High Dependency Unit: Similar to intensive care, this is an area of hospital where 
seriously unwell patients access a higher level of care where specialist medical expertise and 
equipment are available. 

HWTH – Healthwatch Tower Hamlets: Independent consumer champion that listens to 
patients came into being on 1st April 2013 as part of the implementation of the 2012 Health 
and Social Care Act. Every top tier, metropolitan and unitary borough has a local Healthwatch 
organisation which the local authority has a statutory duty to commission. 

HSCIC – Health and Social Care Information Centre: Body responsible for compiling data and 
statistics about NHS provided services in the UK. 

Intrapartum – care during labour and delivery or childbirth

MLU – Midwife Led Unit – The Barkantine Centre is an example. It is a freestanding unit set 
within community health centre, designed to offer a ‘home from home’ environment for 



APPENDIX ONE

35

women to give birth. This type of facility is only suitable for women who are ‘low risk’ as there 
is no medical care onsite. 

MSLC – Maternity Services Liaison Committee: Community led group that aims to capture 
patient experience and ensure that provider organisations take patient views into account. 
MSLCs were established as a measure to ensure collaborative engagement between those 
providing and receiving maternity services. Prior to 2012 MSLCs were a statutory function of 
the Primary Care Trust (PCT). Since the dissolution of PCTs, there is national variation as to 
whether MSLCs are in place, and the extent to which they are funded and supported.

NCT – National Childbirth Trust: An independent charity set up to give impartial advice to 
women and families so they are able to make informed choices about their care. For more 
information see https://www.nct.org.uk/

NICU – Neonatal Intensive Care Unit: A hospital based intensive care unit designed to support 
premature and low birth weight babies and newborns who are critically ill and require a high 
level of clinical care. 

SAFH – Social Action for Health: A community development organisation based in East London. 
SAFH runs the Maternity Services Liaison Committee (MSLC) in Tower Hamlets. For more 
information see http://safh.org.uk/

WHFS – Women’s Health and Family Services: a multicultural community health charity that 
works to improve health for disadvantaged groups. The WHFS run the Maternity Mates service 
in Tower Hamlets  http://www.whfs.org.uk/

https://www.nct.org.uk/
http://safh.org.uk/
http://www.whfs.org.uk/


APPENDIX ONE

36

APPENDIX B: ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Health Scrutiny Panel would like to thank everyone who has contributed to the review, 
particularly colleagues from Barts Health Trust, the Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group, the 
Public Health Department and the local organisations who submitted evidence and presented reports 
as part of the review. 

Cllr Amina Ali Chair of Health Scrutiny Panel (HSP)
Cllr John Pierce Vice-Chair HSP
Cllr Dave Chesterton HSP member
Cllr Sabina Akhtar HSP member
Cllr Abdul Asad HSP member
Cllr Danny Hassell HSP deputy 
Farzana Khanom HSP Co-optee (MSLC)
Sultana Uddin HSP Co-optee (MSLC) 
David Burbidge HSP Co-optee (Healthwatch Tower Hamlets) 
Tim Oliver HSP co-optee (Healthwatch Tower Hamlets)
Sandra Reading Barts Health
Alison Herron Barts Health
Deborah Kelly Barts Health
Jo Carter Barts Health
Jamie Whitburn Barts Health
Matt Hogg Barts Health
Mary Olusile Barts Health
Anita Sanghi Barts Health
Heidi Mulhall Barts Health
Catherine Platt Tower Hamlets CCG
Ellie Hobart Tower Hamlets CCG
Dianne Barham Healthwatch Tower Hamlets
Max Geraghty Care Quality Commission
Jasmin Begum Maternity Mates
Shabira Papain Social Action for Health
Carly Bond Social Action for Health
Ceri Durham National Childbirth Trust
Peter Lamb Public Health (LBTH)
Simon Twite Public Health (LBTH) 
Esther Trenchard-Mabere Public Health (LBTH)

Officers who supported the review
Afazul Hoque Interim Service Manager, Strategy, Policy & 

Performance,  (LBTH)
Daniel Kerr Strategy, Policy & Performance Officer (LBTH)
Sarah Vallelly Strategy, Policy & Performance Officer (LBTH)


	Agenda
	1 DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS
	3 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S)
	Minutes

	4.1 Terms of Reference - Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee
	HSC Appendix 1
	HSC Appendix 2
	HSC Appendix3

	4.2 Review of Maternity Services at the Royal London Hospital
	APPENDIX ONE full report


